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registered name Mpumalanga Gambling board

Physical address Mpumalanga Gambling board building,
First Avenue, White River,
Mpumalanga Province,
South Africa.

Postal address Private bag X9908, White River, 
Mpumalanga Province, 
South Africa, 1240.

telephone number + 27 (0) 13 750-8000

fax number + 27 (0) 13 750-8099

e-mail address ceo@mgb.org.za

Website address www.mgb.org.za

external auditor Auditor-General 

Bankers First National bank 

Board secretary Ms. Marina bezuidenhout

1. General InformatIon 
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AFS Annual Financial Statements

AGSA/AG Auditor-General of South Africa

b-bbEE broad-based black Economic Empowerment

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

CSI Corporate Social Investment

CSR Corporate Social Responsibility

DEDET Department of Economic Development, Environment and Tourism

FY Financial Year

ICP Internal Control Procedures

IT Information Technology

LPM Limited Payout Machines

MEC Member of Executive Council

MGb Mpumalanga Gambling board

MSP Master Systems Plan

MTEF Medium-Term Expenditure Framework

N/A Not Applicable

NRGP National Responsible Gambling Programme

PAIA Promotion of Access to Information Act

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

PGb Provincial Gambling boards

SANS South African National Standards

SAPS South African Police Services

SCM Supply Chain Management

TR Treasury Regulations

2. lIst of abberevIatIons/acronyms 
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3.1  vision

“To be at the forefront of effective regulation of the gambling industry.”

3.2  mission

“To ensure the integrity of gambling through efficient regulation within the Mpumalanga Province of South Africa.”

3.3 values

Integrity is pivotal to the business activities of the Mpumalanga Gambling board (“MGb”). Therefore, Staff and board Members 
constantly strive to conduct  themselves with the utmost integrity in their internal and external business relationships.

Excellence is central to our regulation of gambling in the Province. Our internal stakeholders strive to “live” the Mission and Vision 
of the MGB by ensuring that we achieve the highest level of excellence and remain one of the world’s leading gambling regulators.

Co-operation, reliability and responsiveness of the MGb underpin the historical successes of the MGb. The organisational culture 
of the MGb promotes dedication, commitment, responsibility and accountability to all our stakeholders.

Initiating  and  embracing change is fundamental to the business continuity of the  MGb. The MGb constantly strives to encourage, 
nurture and support the creativity and innovation of its stakeholders thereby promoting a culture of continuous improvement in all 
business and regulatory processes.

Respect for the individual and community within which we conduct our business is of fundamental importance for maintaining  
the trust and confidence of all our stakeholders thereby providing them with  the assurance of efficient and effective gambling 
regulation.

3.4  strategic outcome-oriented Goals

strategic Goal 1:  regulation
Goal statement: Effective and efficient regulation of the gambling industry in the province.

strategic Goal 2:  Industry expansion
Goal statement: Grow the gambling industry in the province responsibly. 

strategic Goal 3:  Public awareness
Goal statement: Increase public awareness of the gambling industry.

strategic Goal 4:  Good Governance
Goal statement: Accountable, responsible and representative organisation.

3. strateGIc overvIew
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The MGb is a PFMA Schedule 3C Public Entity.

This section sets out the specific constitutional and other legislative, functional and policy mandates that inform what the MGB 
does, and how these functions are implemented:

• The Constitution of the Republic of South Africa;
• The National Gambling Act;
• The National Gambling Regulations;
• The Mpumalanga Gambling Act, Rules and Regulations;
• The Mpumalanga Gambling Levies Act and Regulations; and
• The Public Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulations.

The MGb has been charged with the responsibility to perform all functions assigned to it in terms of the Mpumalanga Gambling 
Act, 1995 (Act No. 5 of 1995), as amended (“the Act”) or any other legislation by advising, reporting or making recommendations to 
the Responsible Member on any matter relating to the control of gambling in the Mpumalanga Province.

The MGb in compliance with the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended (“PFMA”), in particular 
the provisions as contained in sections 50 and 51, is committed to the principles of openness, integrity and accountability.  
Furthermore, the MGB adheres to the principles of good governance, as reflected in the King Report on Governance for South 
Africa 2009 (King III Report). 

objectives

The objectives of the Board in terms of the Act are as follows:

• To perform the functions assigned to it in terms of the Act, including:
- Ensuring the suitability of all persons wishing to participate in the gambling industry within Mpumalanga; and
- Ensuring that gambling activities regulated by the MGB are conducted fairly, honestly and free of criminal influence and 

exploitation. 
• To ensure that the regulation of gambling is effective and efficient.
• To render support and advice to the Responsible Member on gambling issues and ensure that the  Government’s policy on 

gambling is implemented.
• To co-operate with the National Gambling board and other stakeholders on matters of mutual interest.
• To conduct research, with a view to advise Government on the socio-economic impact of gambling within the province.
• To perform the functions of the MGb in accordance with acceptable corporate governance practices. 
• To promote responsible gambling in the Mpumalanga Province.

4. leGIslatIve and other mandates
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bheki Mlambo

DePartmental manaGer: 
InvestIGatIons & lIcensInG
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5. orGanIsatIonal structure
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6. foreword by the chaIrperson

Jerry vilakazi  
chairperson
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Introduction

It is with great pleasure that I present the Annual Report of the MGb for the year ended 31 March 2013. This Annual Report 
provides an overview of the activities of the board, how it has performed against its targets, key achievements for the year, 
governance and the Annual Financial Statements. The activities of the board are informed by its legislative mandate, which is 

to provide for the control over gambling and related matters, guided by the Mpumalanga gambling legislation.  

Based on the provisions of section 146 of the country’s Constitution, the Board, in its pursuit of delivering on its mandate, also 
takes into consideration the national regulatory framework, as defined in terms of the National Gambling Act, 2004 (Act No. 7 of 
2004), including the National Regulations, the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended, as well as 
Treasury Regulations and all other relevant pieces of legislation, to ensure that we create a well regulated gambling industry in the 
Mpumalanga Province.

strategic overview and Performance 

During the past year, the board reviewed its strategy with the aim of accelerating its drive of creating an enabling environment for 
the industry to expand and contribute to the achievement of government priorities, in terms of economic growth and development.

The refined strategy encompassed the following strategic outputs, among others; consideration of the fourth casino licence,  
licensing of limited payout machine sites, bingo and horseracing & betting operations.  

With reference to the fourth casino licence, the Board identified a need to utilise the tourism potential in the province by calling for 
proposals for a world-class casino resort-style development in the province. The board will ensure that the granting of the licence 
is underpinned by the economic imperatives of job creation and local economic empowerment.  

With regard to the other gambling segments the board has during the period under review, sustained the responsible rollout of 
outlets as precipitated by market demand.
 

strategic relationships

In pursuing the MGB mandate to ensure the integrity of gambling in the province, through effective and efficient  
regulation. The achievement of this goal is contingent upon implementing a business strategy that responds decisively to the  
interests of all our stakeholders and in so doing, enables the creation of a positive balance between the social costs and economic 
benefits of gambling. This philosophy informs the MGB approach to responsible gambling.  

This report, aims to provide a succinct assessment of our current and longer-term strategy in relation to the key opportunities and 
risks in the industry, the performance against financial and non-financial objectives, and our priorities and expectations for the year 
ahead.  These activities are embarked upon in consideration of the diverse views of our strategic stakeholders, namely:

• Government;
• The National Gambling board;
• Other provincial gambling boards;
• Licensees;
• The National Responsible Gambling Programme; and
• Other stakeholders who have an interest in the gambling industry in the Mpumalanga Province.

6. foreword by the chaIrperson
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Owing to our desire to improve service quality and the realisation that customer service and stakeholder satisfaction is of strategic 
importance, we commissioned a comprehensive stakeholder satisfaction survey during the period under review.  The aim of the 
study was to provide an independent structured and systematic model to allow the stakeholders an opportunity to provide their 
perceptions of service delivery and to express their expectations regarding service quality.  I am pleased to share the results of this 
survey, which underscored higher satisfaction levels – an overall satisfaction level of 85.7%.

Our genuine desire to embrace the perceptions of our stakeholders, was once more reflected during the 2012 PMR Africa awards, 
where the MGb CEO was awarded a Diamond Arrow Award, for being the highest rated during a provincial survey for the category, 
Outstanding Service and Contribution to the Economic Growth and Development of the Mpumalanga Province.

We are also humbled by the recognition bestowed upon us by the international gambling fraternity, with the appointment of the 
MGb CEO to the board of Trustees of the International Association of Gambling Regulators (IAGR). 

challenges

The MGB’s overall performance has been improving year-on-year, however, there are real challenges that must be addressed as 
we go forward. The current state of the world economy, which is largely subdued and not favouring business, is not helping. The 
board therefore, has the critical task of creating a balance between revenue generation and the protection of the public against 
proliferation of gambling.

Furthermore, we continue to be plagued by challenges resulting from rapid technological advancements, especially online  
gambling, which is illegal in South Africa.

Despite these challenges, we remain confident that our strategy to fight illegal gambling in the province continues to bear fruit. The 
board will not relent in its drive to maintain the integrity of the gambling industry in the province and will not condone lawlessness 
that exposes the public to the harm caused by illegal gambling activities.

the Year ahead

The economic conditions remain uncertain, making it difficult for business sustainability, to stimulate economic growth and job 
creation. 

In the year ahead, the board will maintain the success factors that have enabled effective regulation of the gambling industry in the 
province and further strengthen the control systems to ensure that the industry is free from criminal and corruptive elements, thus 
instilling public confidence in regulated gambling.

The board will also confront more vigorously, the challenges around illegal gambling and intensify awareness drives to ensure that 
the public is informed on gambling matters, and most importantly protected from the hazards of irresponsible gambling.

6. foreword by the chaIrperson (contInued)
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acknowledgements/appreciation

I wish to extend my sincere gratitude to the MEC for Economic Development, Environment and Tourism, Honourable MEC  
Mrs YN Phosa and her Department, for the unwavering support and leadership. I further wish to express my gratitude to the former 
MEC, Mr MN Mokoena for his invaluable support and guidance during his tenure.

I wish to acknowledge the support given by the provincial treasury during the year.  I thank the Chairperson of the Portfolio  
Committee on Agriculture, Rural Development and Land Administration; Economic Development, Environment and Tourism,  
Ms RC Mohlobogoane, for  providing oversight and guidance to our work.

I further wish to extend my heartfelt thanks to my fellow Board Members for the robust engagements, as well as their sacrifices, as 
they availed themselves to address various matters during the financial period under review.

Lastly, I wish to thank and congratulate the CEO, management team and staff on the progress made during the period under review. 
The board acknowledges that the success of any business is built on the hard work, creativity and the commitment of its employees.

conclusion

Acknowledging that there are significant challenges that we need to collectively overcome, I am confident that with the measures 
being implemented, a clear strategic vision, underpinned by sound leadership, will steer us in the desired direction, thus securing a 
sustainable future for the benefit of the industry and all stakeholders.

J. s. vilakazi
Chairperson of the board
23 May 2013

6. foreword by the chaIrperson (contInued)
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Introduction

The 2012/2013 financial year was incredibly eventful and equally challenging for the gambling industry in the province, more so 
for the MGb.  Considering the social and economic landscape of the province, in particular, the slow growth of the provincial 
 economy and the rate of unemployment, it is pleasing to note that our work produced some relief in terms of new jobs and  

increased revenue. We are proud to report that we achieved all the deliverables set out for the financial year within the available resources.

Bookmaker operations, which has been relatively insignificant, came alive during the period under review. Bingo operations were also  
introduced. This improvement is attributable to the legislative reform which allowed operators to introduce new gambling  
establishments. As far as the other gambling sectors are concerned, casinos and the limited payout machine operations continued 
to perform slightly above projections.

We are encouraged that we have, for the life of this organisation, successfully defended our position of achieving unqualified and clean 
audit reports.

We continuously strive for a positive balance between the benefits accruing from this important industry and the ills associated 
therewith. To this end, we have further strengthened our efforts in creating public awareness about gambling, responsible gambling, 
as well as the dangers associated with gambling.  The impact of awareness drives during the year was massively boosted by the 
crowning of Miss Mpumalanga, as the MGb gained for the second time, an ambassador for responsible gambling awareness in the 
province. This platform enabled the MGb to create the necessary awareness more than ever before.

factual Information about strategies, results and challenges

The MGB’s overall performance for the year was very strong right across the organisation, benefiting from a sustained focus on 
the strategic priorities set out by the board, as well as our vigilance around global trends affecting the gambling industry. These are 
detailed in Part b, along with the key indicators which we measure our performance and record our progress in each case.

Regulation

In respect of licensing, the board considered new bookmaker applications, during the period under review, of which, 31 were 
granted and rolled out, resulting in 137 permanent jobs created, as well as an increase in the gambling revenue.  

In respect of bingo operations, the first bingo site in the province became operational in the 3rd quarter of the financial year under 
review and demonstrated a positive growth towards gambling revenue, as well as the creation of 50 new jobs.

In a bid to sustain the effective regulation of the gambling industry in the province, we have strengthened our control systems to 
ensure that our regulatory mechanisms remain consistent with provincial and national legislation, as well as global trends within 
the industry.

As part of the regulatory framework, we have conducted compliance inspections and audits at operational licensed establishments 
and no significant incidents of non-compliance were detected. 

In terms of revenue verification, all relevant gambling data was collected and reconciled to the monitoring systems for all the  
gambling establishments, to ensure completeness and accuracy of gambling levies, reliability of the central monitoring systems and 
compliance to the Mpumalanga Gambling legislation.  

7. chIef executIve offIcer’s overvIew



13

New gambling equipment was evaluated to ensure that only equipment certified as suitable for use by the public and compliant 
with legislation was approved for use in the province. Licensed establishments were also inspected and there were no incidents of 
non-compliance detected.  

 
Public Awareness

We have set out to sustain the public awareness campaigns on the role of the board and to promote responsible gambling. There 
have been more public participation campaigns during the year, ensuring public understanding of the dangers of gambling and how 
to avoid them, through creative arts, as well as innovative advertising on print and online media. We have conducted 195 awareness 
campaigns and reached approximately 120 000 people across the province.

Human Capital

We continue to place a high premium on the development of our staff, as we are mindful of the fact that the success of any business 
is underpinned by a competent workforce.

In this regard, the MGb provides educational assistance, in line with its policies relating to workforce development.  This has 
ensured that our staff are provided with the valuable opportunity to pursue their career development, which place them strategically 
to climb the corporate ladder.

We further provide training to our staff, to ensure that they stay relevant to the strategic imperatives of the board.

We have improved interaction with foreign jurisdictions on functional/operational levels, in a bid to keep up with international 
trends in gambling regulation and training and to keep up with technological advancement in the industry.

During the period under review, the MGb had representation in two international conferences and one regional conference.

Information Technology (IT)

The need for strong IT governance has been recognised within the MGb and as such we are actively involved in reviewing our IT 
governance framework to ensure business value-driven IT projects.  IT governance represents one of the pillars of the IT strategy 
and the board adheres to industry recognised best practices.

The ever-evolving technological environment will always pose both challenges and opportunities, which should constantly be 
addressed.

Highlights of future Plans and actions of the mGB and the medium to long-term Goals 

While the effective regulation of the industry continues, key strategic priorities for the MGB in the medium to long term will entail:

• Finalisation of the evaluation process for the fourth casino licence and the granting of the licence; 
• Sustained rollout of awareness campaigns in respect of responsible and prohibited gambling; 
• Sustained regulation of the gambling industry in the province; and
• Review of the gambling legislation in line with industry developments.

7. chIef executIve offIcer’s overvIew (contInued)
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Overall, all gambling segments performed well during the year, accounting to approximately R70 million in gambling revenue; an 
increase of about 16.6 % compared to the previous financial year.  We are encouraged by the continued good performance by all 
gambling segments.

acknowledgements/appreciation

I would like to thank our wide groupings of stakeholders for the many ways in which they contributed to and supported our 
achievements during the past year.

I wish to express my appreciation to the Chairperson and the entire board for the continued encouragement, support, guidance and 
insight in these important times for the MGb.

I further wish to thank my colleagues in the executive team and the entire MGb staff for demonstrating continued belief in the 
Board’s strategy by showing commitment to and pride in their work, embracing the values and ethics of our organisation.  

conclusion

Looking ahead, I am confident that we have put in place the right plans and that we have highly motivated, committed and  
competent employees who will enable us to deliver on our strategy.  Through this strategy and as the world economy improves, I 
expect us to deliver more good returns and exciting industry growth in the near future.

B.J. mlambo
Chief Executive Officer 
23 May 2013

7. chIef executIve offIcer’s overvIew (contInued)
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The MGb is responsible for monitoring the preparation, as well as the integrity and reliability of the performance information, 
Annual Financial Statements and related information included in this Annual Report. In order for the Accounting Authority to 
discharge these responsibilities as well as those bestowed on it in terms of the Public Finance Management Act and other applicable 
legislation, it has developed and maintained a system of internal controls.

The internal controls include a risk based system of internal accounting and administrative controls designed to provide reasonable 
but not absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with generally 
accepted business practices and the entity’s policies and procedures. Monitoring of these controls includes a regular review of their 
operations by the Accounting Authority and independent oversight by an Audit Committee.

As part of the system of internal control, the outsourced internal audit function conducts operational financial and specific audits 
and co-ordinates audit coverage with the external auditors. The Auditor-General is responsible for reporting on the Annual Financial 
Statements. The Annual Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practices (GRAP). They are based on appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgement and estimates.

The MGB believes that the performance information fairly reflects the actual achievement against planned objectives, indicators 
and targets as per the strategic and annual performance plans for the year ended 31 March 2013.  The performance information has 
been examined by the external auditors and their report is presented on page 60.

The Accounting Authority believes that the MGb will be a going concern in the year ahead due to the government grant. For this 
reason, the Accounting Authority continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Financial Statements.

The Accounting Authority approved the performance information for the year ended 31 March 2013 as set out on pages 21 to 34, as 
well as the Annual Financial Statements as set out on pages 62 to 88, on 23 May 2013 which were signed on its behalf by:

 
J.s. vilakazi B.J. mlambo  
Chairperson of the board Chief Executive Officer
23 May 2013 23 May 2013

1. statement of responsIbIlIty 
for performance InformatIon and annual fInancIal statements
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2. audItor-General’s report: 
predetermIned objectIves 

Refer to page 60 to 61 of the Report of the Auditor-General to the Mpumalanga Provincial Legislature on the Financial Statements 
on the MGb for this information.
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3.1  service Delivery environment
Refer to the CEO’s Overview. 

3.2 organisational environment
Refer to the CEO’s Overview. 

3.3 Key Policy Developments and legislative changes
Refer to the CEO’s Overview. 

 3.4 strategic outcome-oriented Goals
Refer to the CEO’s Overview. 

3. overvIew of the mGb’s performance
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4.1 Programme 1: Executive Office

PurPose
1. Administration and management of the organisation.
2. MGb operates in accordance with national and international gambling policies and standards.

ProGramme 1: eXecutIve offIce

strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

actual 
achievement 

2011/2012

Planned target 
(2012/2013)

actual 
achievement
(2012/2013)

Deviation 
from Planned 

target to actual 
achievement for 

2012/2013

comment on 
Deviations

To ensure that the MGb 
operates in accordance 
with National and 
International Gambling 
Policies and Standards.

To keep abreast 
with Industry 
Regulatory best 
practices.

Attended one 
overseas and 
two local 
conferences.

Attending two 
overseas and 
one continental 
conferences.

Attended two 
overseas and 
one continental 
conferences.

None. N/A

To ensure proper 
Administration and 
Management of the 
Organisation.

Approved 
strategy in line 
with legislation.

Facilitated the 
development of 
the 2012/2013 
Organisational 
Strategy.

2013/2014 
Organisational 
Strategy.

Facilitated the 
development 
of the 
Organisational 
Strategy.

None. N/A

Compliance with 
the approved 
strategy.

Implementation 
of the 
Organisational 
Strategy 
monitored.

Monitoring the 
implementation 
of the 
Organisational 
Strategy.

Implementation 
of the 
Organisational 
Strategy.

None. N/A

Executive Office

2012/2013 2011/2012

Budget
r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Budget

r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Compensation 2 177 693 2 176 636 1 057 1 815 128 1 806 148 8 980
Goods and Services 1 345 088 1 435 525 (90 437) 634 500 634 264 236
total expenses 3 522 781 3 612 161 (89 380) 2 449 628 2 440 412 9 216

4. performance InformatIon by proGramme
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4.2  Programme 2: Investigations and licensing

PurPose
1. To consider the suitability of all applicants.
2. To ensure the continued suitability of holders of licences and certificates.
3. To ensure compliance with bid commitments, licence conditions and b-bbEE initiatives.
4. To facilitate the expansion of the industry.   

ProGramme 2: InvestIGatIons anD lIcensInG

strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

actual 
achievement 

2011/2012

Planned target 
(2012/2013)

actual 
achievement
(2012/2013)

Deviation 
from Planned 

target to actual 
achievement for 

2012/2013

comment on 
Deviations

To facilitate the expansion 
of the industry.

Invitation of 
applications: 
Fourth Casino.

Policy review in 
process.

Publish revised 
RFP and invite 
proposals.

Published the 
revised RFP and 
invited proposals.

None. N/A

Invitation of 
applications: 
Limited Payout 
Machines.

Applications for 
Type A and C site 
operator licences 
were invited.

Publish one 
notice to 
invite LPM 
applications.

Applications 
for Type A site 
operator licences 
were invited.

None. N/A

Invitation of 
applications: 
betting.

Applications 
for bookmaker 
licences were 
invited.

Publish one 
notice to 
invite betting 
applications.

Applications 
for totalisator 
operator licences 
were invited.

None. N/A

To investigate or review 
the suitability or continued 
suitability of applicants or 
licensees.

Compliance to 
sections 24, 27, 
47 or 55 of the 
Mpumalanga 
Gambling Act.

290 
investigations 
and 278 reviews.

90 investigations 
and 360 reviews.

183 
investigations 
and 498 reviews.

93 investigations 
and 138 reviews.

More 
amendments to 
outlet licences 
and applications 
for certificates of 
approvals were 
received than 
planned.

Investigations and 
licensing

2012/2013 2011/2012

Budget
r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Budget

r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Compensation 4 208 073 4 161 561 46 512 4 153 943 4 153 943 -
Goods and services 113 642 118 397 (4 755) 197 000 196 369 631
total expenses 4 321 715 4 279 958 41 757 4 350 943 4 350 312 631

4. performance InformatIon by proGramme (contInued)
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list of licensees

licence Holder licence type number of site  
operators or outlets 

bETSA CC bookmaker 6

bettaGaming Mpumalanga (Pty) Ltd bookmaker 6

betting World (Pty) Ltd bookmaker 5

bingo Vision (Pty) Ltd Maintenance and supplier 0

Fort Wood Transport Enterprises CC bookmaker 2

Hollywood Sportsbook Mpumalanga (Pty) Ltd bookmaker 9

Keith Ho Racing (Pty) Ltd bookmaker 1

Konami Australia (Pty) Ltd Manufacturer of gambling machines 0

Peermont Global (Southern Highveld) (Pty) Ltd Casino 1

Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Ltd Totalisator operator 16

Playbet (Pty) Ltd bookmaker 1

Portapa 2 (Pty) Ltd bookmaker 1

Standerton Tattersalls bookmaker 1

Talium Investments (Pty) Ltd bookmaker 1

Thaba-Gare Lydenburg (Pty) Ltd Independent site operator 1

Tsogo Sun Casinos (Pty) Ltd Casino 2

US betting (Pty) Ltd bookmaker 3

Viva bingo (Middelburg) (Pty) Ltd bingo operator 2

Vukani Gaming Mpumalanga (Pty) Ltd Route operator 116

Zimele Slots Mpumalanga (Pty) Ltd Route operator 24

Certificates of Approval and Suitability

Industry sector Certificates of Approval  
(licensed employment)

Certificates of Suitability  
(third Parties)

Casinos 631 14

Limited Payout Machines 113 3

betting 248 0

bingo 40 0

Manufacturer, Maintenance and Suppliers 2 0

totals 1034 17
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4.3 Programme 3: Gambling control

PurPose
1. To ensure that gambling equipment operates in compliance with legislation and the SANS.
2. To monitor all applications for distribution of gambling equipment for compliance with legislation.
3. To ensure regulatory compliance of all gambling operations and fair treatment of punters and to combat all forms of prohibited 

gambling.

ProGramme 3: GamBlInG control

strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

actual 
achievement 

2011/2012

Planned target 
(2012/2013)

actual 
achievement
(2012/2013)

Deviation 
from Planned 

target to actual 
achievement for 

2012/2013

comment on 
Deviations

To ensure that gambling 
equipment operates 
in compliance with 
legislation and the SANS.

Evaluate all 
applications 
for games and 
equipment in line 
with legislation 
within five 
working days.

751 evaluations. 600 evaluations. 551 evaluations. 49 evaluations. Fewer 
applications were 
received than 
planned.

Verification of all 
machine moves, 
conversions and 
modifications 
within two days 
after expiry of 
notification.

757 verifications. 480 verifications. 612 verifications. 132 verifications. More 
applications were 
received than 
planned.

To monitor all applications 
for distribution of 
gambling equipment 
for compliance with 
legislation.

Evaluate all 
applications 
for distribution 
of gambling 
equipment within 
five working days.

498 evaluations. 300 evaluations. 450 evaluations. 150 evaluations. More 
applications were 
received than 
planned.

To ensure regulatory 
compliance of all 
gambling operations and 
fair treatment of punters.

Inspection of all 
relevant licensees 
and investigation 
of all gambling 
disputes.

Four completed 
quarterly 
inspection 
reports.

Four compliance 
inspection 
reports.

Four compliance 
inspection 
reports.

None. N/A

To combat all forms of 
prohibited gambling.

Inspection of 
all areas in 
Mpumalanga to 
ensure that there 
are no prohibited 
gambling 
activities within 
the province.

Four completed 
quarterly 
inspection 
reports.

Four law 
enforcement 
inspection 
reports.

Four law 
enforcement 
inspection 
reports.

None. N/A

Gambling control

2012/2013 2011/2012

Budget
r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Budget

r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Compensation  4 957 460  4 937 456  20 004 4 330 000 4 327 599 2 401
Goods and Services  617 412  739 093 (121 681) 922 000 919 777 2 223
total expenses  5 574 872  5 676 549  (101 677) 5 252 000 5 247 376 4 624
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During the period under review, 35 illegal gambling cases were registered with the MGb and from these cases, 77 gambling 
devices were confiscated.  The trend of these statistics indicates a decrease in the number of new cases of illegal gambling while 
the number of confiscated gambling devices per site increased.  This can be attributed to the effectiveness of the strategy adopted 
by the Gambling Control Department to combat illegal gambling activities.

The number of registered casino gambling machines remained the same in the 2012/2013 financial year with a total of 1 104  
registered and operational casino gambling machines. Similarly, the number of registered and operational gambling tables  
remained the same with 44 gambling tables.

A new type of gambling device, namely Electronic bingo Terminals (EbTs) which are used in the newly licensed bingo sector was 
introduced in the 2012/2013 financial year. In this regard 53 new EBTs are registered and in operation at the Bingo site.

The number of operational Limited Payout Machines (LPMs) at the various licensed sites in the province increased by 2.54% in the 
2012/2013 financial year from 589 to 604 LPMs.

An increase of 6.76% in the number of registered gambling equipment was recorded in the 2012/2013 financial year from 6 059 in 
2011/2012 financial year to 6 469 in the 2012/2013 financial year.

4. performance InformatIon by proGramme (contInued)
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4.4  Programme 4: Gambling audit

PurPose
1. Provide assurance that the gambling levies are complete, accurately calculated and paid by the licensees.
2. Provide assurance that the licensees maintain a level of continued financial suitability and comply with legislative requirements.

ProGramme 4: GamBlInG auDIt

strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

actual 
achievement 

2011/2012

Planned target 
(2012/2013)

actual 
achievement
(2012/2013)

Deviation 
from Planned 

target to actual 
achievement for 

2012/2013

comment on 
Deviations

Provide assurance that 
the gambling levies are 
complete, accurately 
calculated and paid by the 
licensees.

Complete and 
accurate levies 
received.

Monthly 
verifications on 
Casinos, Route 
Operators, 
Independent 
Site, Totalisator 
and bookmakers 
performed.

Monthly (12) 
verifications on 
Casinos, Route 
Operators, 
Independent Site, 
Totalisator and 
bookmakers.

Monthly (12) 
verifications on 
Casinos, Route 
Operators, 
Independent 
Site, Totalisator, 
bookmakers and 
bingo.

bingo 
verifications.

bingo became 
operational in 
November 2012.

Quarterly audits 
on Casinos and 
bookmakers 
performed.

bi-annual audits 
on Totalisator, 
and Zonke 
performed.

Quarterly audits 
on Casinos.

bi-annual audits 
on Totalisator, 
bookmakers and 
LPM sector.

Quarterly audits 
on Casinos 
performed.

bi-annual audits 
on Totalisator, 
bookmakers 
and LPM sector 
performed.

None. N/A

Provide assurance that 
the licensees maintain 
a level of continued 
financial suitability and 
comply with legislative 
requirements.

Compliance 
in terms of 
Rule 3.010 by 
operational 
licensees.

Annual audits, 
one per 
operational 
licensee 
performed, 
except for the 
audit to be 
conducted jointly 
with other PGB’s 
on Zonke.

14 Compliance 
audits, one per 
operational 
licensee.

14 Compliance 
audits, one per 
operational 
licensee 
performed.

None. N/A

Gambling control

2012/2013 2011/2012

Budget
r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Budget

r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Compensation 4 534 101 4 516 804 17 297 3 900 000 3 916 781 (16 781)
Goods and Services 461 835 523 074 (61 239) 500 800 501 386 (586)
total expenses 4 995 936 5 039 878 (43 942) 4 400 800 4 418 167 (17 367)

In 2012/2013, the Casinos remained the top contributors to levy collections, contributing R49.68 million (73.93%) of the overall 
levies collected.  The Limited Payout Machine operators, Horseracing & betting operators and bingo operator contributed R17.52 
million (26.07%) of total levies collected.
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15.06% limited Payout machines

9.95% Horseracing & Betting

1.06% Bingo

73.93% casinos

actual levies collected compared to Prior Year

The Rand value and ratio of gambling industry levies’ contribution are reflected in the table and graph below.

sector levies 2012/2013 
r

levies 2011/2012 
r

% variance 
r

Casinos  49 679 276  44 819 260 10.84%
Limited payout machines  10 121 823  8 585 009 17.90%
Horseracing & betting  6 684 547  4 629 080 44.40%
bingo  710 538  - 100.00% 
Total  67 196 184  58 033 349 15.79%
Unclaimed money  4 150  6 794 -38.92%
Grand total  67 200 334  58 040 143 15.78%

4. performance InformatIon by proGramme (contInued)
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4.5  Programme 5: legal services

PurPose
1. To ensure that the operations of the MGb are in line with all relevant legislation and the common law.
2. To ensure effective and efficient gambling legislation.
3. To ensure that the board and the MGb comply with the latest good corporate governance practices.

ProGramme 5: leGal servIces

strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

actual achievement 
2011/2012

Planned target 
(2012/2013)

actual achievement
(2012/2013)

Deviation 
from Planned 

target to actual 
achievement for 

2012/2013

comment on 
Deviations

To ensure that 
the operations 
of the MGb 
are in line with 
all relevant 
legislation and 
the common 
law.

Ensure 
appropriate 
administration 
and actions by 
the MGb.

Provided legal opinions 
and legal advice on 
various ad hoc matters.

Three Council’s 
opinions were obtained.

Facilitate four 
legal opinions 
from Council 
and/or Attorneys.

Two Council opinions 
were obtained.

Two legal 
opinions.

Needs 
driven.

Eight status reviews 
of amendments to 
relevant provincial and 
national legislation were 
performed.

Four status 
reviews of 
amendments 
to relevant 
provincial 
and national 
legislation.

15 status reviews of 
amendments to relevant 
provincial and national 
legislation were 
performed.

11 status 
reviews. 

More 
legislative 
amendments 
occurred.

Status reviews 
conducted. Two 
litigation matters 
pending against the 
board.

Four status 
reviews of 
progress in 
litigation matters 
by/against MGb.

Four status reviews 
conducted. One litigation 
matter is pending against 
the board.

None. N/A

To ensure 
effective 
and efficient 
gambling 
legislation.

Eliminate 
all deficient 
gambling 
legislation, in 
line with national 
and international 
norms and 
standards.

The Mpumalanga 
Gambling Regulations 
were reviewed, with 
further amendments 
recommended to the 
Department.

The Mpumalanga 
Gambling Levies 
Regulations were 
published for public 
comments.

Review 
Mpumalanga 
Gambling 
Act, Gambling 
Levies Act and 
Regulations 
annually.

The Mpumalanga 
Gambling Act, 
Gambling Levies Act 
and Regulations were 
reviewed.

None. N/A

The Mpumalanga 
Gambling Rules 
were reviewed and 
recommendations were 
made to the board.

Review 
Mpumalanga 
Gambling Rules 
annually.

Reviewed the 
Mpumalanga Gambling 
Rules.

None. N/A

To ensure that 
the board 
and the MGb 
comply with 
the latest good 
corporate 
governance 
practices.

Develop and 
maintain an 
environment to 
review processes 
for adherence to 
good corporate 
governance 
practices.

Facilitated the following 
meetings and minuted 
discussions and 
resolutions of the board 
and its Committees:

Facilitate and 
minute board 
meetings 
according 
to approved 
meeting 
schedule; and 
ad hoc special 
tasks assigned 
to members 
quarterly.

Facilitated and minuted 
all scheduled meetings, 
as well as the following 
special meetings:

Two Special board 
meetings; one Special 
Compliance Committee 
meeting; and one Special 
Corporate Services 
Committee meeting.

Special meetings 
facilitated as 
required.

Needs 
driven.
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ProGramme 5: leGal servIces (continued)

strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

actual achievement 
2011/2012

Planned target 
(2012/2013)

actual achievement
(2012/2013)

Deviation 
from Planned 

target to actual 
achievement for 

2012/2013

comment on 
Deviations

To ensure that 
the board 
and the MGb 
comply with 
the latest good 
corporate 
governance 
practices 
(cont.).

Develop and 
maintain an 
environment to 
review processes 
for adherence to 
good corporate 
governance 
practices (cont.).

Five board meetings, 
five Corporate Services 
Committee meetings; 
one Special Corporate 
Services Committee 
meeting; four Audit 
Committee meetings 
and four Compliance 
Committee Meetings.

Facilitated 77 ad hoc 
special tasks, assigned 
to Members (see 
information under the 
chapter on Corporate 
Governance).

Facilitate and
minute board 
meetings 
according 
to approved 
meeting 
schedule; and 
ad hoc special 
tasks assigned 
to members 
quarterly (cont).

Facilitated 125 ad hoc 
special tasks, assigned to 
members.

None. Needs 
driven.

Facilitated board 
training, a Fourth 
Casino Licence 
workshop and 
attendance of 
appropriate conferences 
(see information under 
the chapter on Corporate 
Governance).

Facilitate 
attendance of 
appropriate 
training and 
workshops 
annually.

Facilitated the following 
training and workshops:

board training on 
Corporate Governance; 
Audit Committee 
Training on Ethics; Risk 
Assessment workshop 
with Audit Committee; 
and the board was 
exposed to bingo and 
bookmaker operations.

board and Audit 
Committee 
induction not 
facilitated.

Members 
re-appointed 
therefore no 
induction 
required.

One vacancy 
in the Audit 
Committee 
- Member 
appointed 
from 1 May 
2013.

board Corporate 
Governance practices 
were reviewed.

Review of the 
board corporate 
governance 
practices 
annually.

board Corporate 
Governance practices 
were reviewed.

None. N/A

legal services

2012/2013 2011/2012

Budget
r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Budget

r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Compensation 1 641 813 1 643 903 (2 090) 1 484 895 1 484 895 0
Goods and services 78 560 48 271 30 289 192 084 191 412 672
total expenses 1 720 373 1 692 174 28 199 1 676 979 1 676 307 672

Board

2012/2013 2011/2012

Budget
r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Budget

r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Compensation 1 101 858 1 357 750 (255 892) 715 000 716 473 (1 473)
Goods and services 668 150 985 568 (317 418) 1 156 000 1 165 830 (9 830)
total expenses 1 770 008 2 343 318 (573 310) 1 871 000 1 882 303 (11 303)
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4.6  Programme 6: corporate services

PurPose
1. Implement efficient and effective financial and asset management.
2. To ensure efficient and effective human resources and related environment.

ProGramme 6: corPorate servIces

strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

actual achievement 
2011/2012

Planned target 
(2012/2013)

actual 
achievement
(2012/2013)

Deviation 
from Planned 

target to actual 
achievement for 

2012/2013

comment on 
Deviations

Implement 
efficient and 
effective 
financial 
and asset 
management.

Complete, 
accurate financial 
management 
information.

12 financial performance 
reports.

12 financial 
performance 
reports.

12 financial 
performance 
reports compiled.

None. N/A

Adequate budget 
in accordance 
with the MGB’s 
strategic needs.

Approved budget for 
2012/2013 financial year  
delivered.

budget for 
2013/2014 FY.

budget for 
2013/2014 FY 
compiled.

None. N/A

Updated risk 
documentation in 
accordance with 
the MGB’s risk 
profile.

2012/2013 Risk assessment 
performed.

Approved 
2013/2014 FY 
risk assessment 
report.

Approved 
2013/2014 FY risk 
assessment report.

None. N/A

Risk register 2011/2012 
updated.

12 reviews of 
Risk Register 
2012/2013 FY.

12 reviews of Risk 
Register 2012/2013 
FY performed.

None. N/A

Ensure audits are 
conducted and 
recommendations 
implemented.

Implementation of audit 
recommendations done.

Facilitated four internal audit 
reports.

Facilitated the appointment 
of Internal Auditors.

Facilitated annual audit by 
Auditor-General.

Facilitate four 
internal audits 
and one external 
audit.

Facilitated four 
internal audits and 
one external audit.

None. N/A

Complete accurate 
and timeous 
Annual Financial 
Statements.

Submitted approved Annual 
Financial Statements to 
Auditor-General by 31 May 
2011.

Submit approved 
AFS to AG by  
31 May 2012.

Submitted 
approved AFS to 
AG by 31 May 
2012.

None. N/A

Fees and levies 
transferred to 
Government, as 
prescribed.

Monthly transfers to 
Government as prescribed.

12 transfers to 
Government, as 
prescribed.

12 transfers to 
Government, as 
prescribed.

None. N/A

Ensure effective 
supply chain 
management 
system in place.

Compiled quarterly 
compliance reports.

Four compliance 
reports.

Four compliance 
reports compiled.

None. N/A

Facilitate the 
evaluation 
of b-bbEE 
compliance audits.

None. Updated MGb  
b-bbEE 
scorecard.

MGb b-bbEE 
scorecard updated.

None. N/A
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ProGramme 6: corPorate servIces (continued)

strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

actual achievement 
2011/2012

Planned target 
(2012/2013)

actual 
achievement
(2012/2013)

Deviation 
from Planned 

target to actual 
achievement for 

2012/2013

comment on 
Deviations

To ensure 
efficient and 
effective human 
resources 
and related 
environment.

Clear, accurate 
and effective 
Internal Control 
Policy.

Reviewed and monitored 
Internal Control Procedures.

One review of 
Internal Control 
Procedures.

One review of 
Internal Control 
Procedures.

None. N/A

Provide accurate 
and relevant 
information to the 
board for annual 
salary reviews.

Facilitated annual salary 
survey.

Implemented annual salary 
review and performance 
bonuses.

One remuneration 
survey.

One remuneration 
survey performed.

None. N/A

corporate services

2012/2013 2011/2012

Budget
r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Budget

r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Compensation  5 724 645  5 715 741  8 904 6 610 000 6 606 526 3 474
Goods and Services  6 903 690  6 336 294  567 396 6 671 000 6 278 742 392 258
total expenses  12 628 335  12 052 035  576 300 13 281 000 12 885 268 395 732
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4.7 Programme 7: communications

PurPose
1. Ensure that all relevant information is disseminated timeously to all the relevant stakeholders.
2. Enhance public relations and corporate identity of the MGb.
3. Increase public awareness of the role of the MGb.
4. Ensure sustainable Social Responsibility Initiatives and responsible gambling awareness.
5. Conduct research to ensure that the MGb has reliable information for policy formulation.
6. Ensure effective knowledge and records management.
7. Ensure effective development of integrated information systems and databases.

ProGramme 7: communIcatIons

strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

actual achievement 
2011/2012

Planned target 
(2012/2013)

actual 
achievement
(2012/2013)

Deviation 
from Planned 

target to actual 
achievement for 

2012/2013

comment on 
Deviations

Ensure that 
all relevant 
information is 
disseminated 
timeously to 
all the relevant 
stakeholders.

Timeous 
compilation 
and submission 
of Statutory 
Performance 
Reports within due 
date.

Annual and Quarterly 
Performance Reports 
compiled and distributed.

Compilation and 
distribution of 
one Annual and 
four Quarterly 
Performance 
Reports.

Compiled and 
distributed one 
Annual and 
four Quarterly 
Performance 
Reports.

None. N/A

Timeous review 
and publication 
of relevant 
informational 
material.

Information brochures were 
reviewed and published.

Review of three 
information 
brochures – 
General, Illegal 
Gambling and 
Self-Exclusion 
brochures.

Reviewed three 
information 
brochures - 
General, Illegal 
Gambling and 
Self-Exclusion 
brochures.

None. N/A

Annual review of 
communications 
policies and 
manuals.

Multimedia material 
developed and distributed.

One review 
of two 
communications 
policies and one 
manual.

Reviewed two 
Communications 
Policies (IT and 
Communication 
Policies) and One 
Manual (PAIA).

None. N/A

Increase public 
awareness of 
the gambling 
industry.

Effective mass 
media and 
marketing 
campaigns 
facilitated.

News articles, media 
releases, advertisements 
and advertorial material 
to various audiences were 
produced and published.

Publication of 
20 print and 15 
electronic media 
messages.

Published 41 print 
and 19 electronic 
media messages.

21 print and four 
electronic media 
messages.

Needs 
driven.

Improved 
levels of public 
awareness in the 
communities.

Participated and exhibited 
the services of the MGb 
during outreach programmes, 
izimbizo and social events 
relevant to the MGb.

Conduct 15 
exhibitions about 
MGb Services.

Conducted 16 
exhibitions on the 
services of the 
MGb. 

More invitations 
were received 
than planned.

Needs 
driven.

Effective 
responsible 
gambling 
awareness 
programmes 
and social 
responsibility 
initiatives.

Implemented and monitored 
social responsibility 
initiatives and Responsible 
Gambling Awareness 
Programmes.

Conduct 180 
Responsible 
Gambling 
Awareness 
Campaigns.

Conducted 195 
Responsible 
Gambling 
Awareness 
Campaigns. 

15 additional 
awareness 
campaigns.

Needs 
driven.

4. performance InformatIon by proGramme (contInued)



33

ProGramme 7: communIcatIons (continued)

strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

actual achievement 
2011/2012

Planned target 
(2012/2013)

actual 
achievement
(2012/2013)

Deviation 
from Planned 

target to actual 
achievement for 

2012/2013

comment on 
Deviations

Ensure effective 
development 
of integrated 
business 
information and 
systems.

Understand 
the gambling 
environment in the 
province.

Commissioned Stakeholder 
Satisfaction Survey to be 
completed in the 2012/2013 
FY.

None. Completed a 
Stakeholder 
Satisfaction Survey.

Completion of 
Stakeholder 
Satisfaction 
Survey.

brought 
forward from 
previous 
financial 
year.

Effective 
implementation 
of information 
systems in line 
with the MSP.

Annual review and 
implementation of MSP 
performed.

One MSP 
review report 
and four MSP 
implementation 
reports.

One MSP 
review report 
and four MSP 
implementation 
reports.

None. N/A

Maintained adequate IT 
infrastructure and support 
services.

Four quarterly 
IT performance 
reports.

Four quarterly 
IT performance 
reports.

None. N/A

Compliance 
with records 
management 
policy and 
practices.

Annual review and one 
compliance assessment 
performed.

Four compliance 
assessment 
reports.

Four compliance 
assessment reports.

None. N/A

communications

2012/2013 2011/2012

Budget
r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Budget

r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Compensation 3 660 444 3 261 825 398 619 2 466 027 2 466 027   0 
Goods and Services 3 503 537 3 814 771 (311 234) 3 959 623  3 956 900 2 723
total expenses 7 163 981 7 076 596 87 385 6 425 650 6 422 927 2 723
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5. summary of financial Information

5.1  revenue collection

sources of revenue

2012/2013 2011/2012

estimate 
amount

r

actual
amount 
collected

r

(over)/under 
collection

r

estimate 
amount

r

actual
amount 
collected

r

(over)/under 
collection

r
Gambling levies and taxes 59 739 366 67 200 344 (7 460 978) 56 157 567 58 040 143 (1 882 576)
Application and license fees 1 966 500 2 774 000 (807 500) 1 760 750 2 060 250 (299 500)
total revenue 61 705 866 69 974 344 (8 268 478) 57 918 317 60 100 393 (2 182 076)

5.2  Programme expenditure

mGB summary

2012/2013 2011/2012

Budget
r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Budget

r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Compensation 26 904 228 26 413 927         490 301 25 611 984 25 478 391 133 593
Goods and Services 14 793 772 15 319 640 (525 868) 14 096 016 13 844 677 251 339 
total expenses   41 698 000 41 733 567 (35 567) 39 708 000 39 323 068 384 932

5.3  capital Investment, maintenance and asset management Plan 

Infrastructure projects

2012/2013 2011/2012

Budget
r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Budget

r

actual
expenditure

r

(over)/under 
expenditure

r
Capital expenses 210 000    118 732 91 268  200 000  581 890 (381 890)
total 210 000    118 732 91 268  200 000  581 890  (381 890)
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1. Introduction

The core values and best practices of the MGb embrace the principles of good governance, as outlined in the King III Report 
on Corporate Governance for South Africa, in terms of which good governance is essentially about effective ethical leadership, 
sustainability and responsible corporate citizenship. In addition to legislative requirements, based on the Mpumalanga Gambling 
Act and the PFMA, the MGb adheres to the principles contained in the King III Report, which have been applied.

2.  Portfolio committee

The Portfolio Committee exercises oversight over the service delivery performance of the MGb and, as such, reviews the  
non-financial information contained in the annual and quarterly reports of the MGB and is concerned with service delivery and 
enhancing economic growth.

The MGB was invited to three meetings of the Portfolio Committee during the period under review, to provide: additional 
information requested in respect of the programme budgets and expenditure; clarification on the content of annual and quarterly 
reports, and information on employment equity plans. The table below reflects the meetings held with the Portfolio Committee 
during the period under review:

Date of the meeting subject
10 May 2012 budget and Annual Performance Plan 2012/2013 deliberations
11 September 2012 Quarterly Performance Reports deliberations
6 November 2012 Quarterly Performance and Annual Report 2011/2012 deliberations

3.  executive authority

The Member of the Executive Council for Economic Development, Environment and Tourism appoints board members in terms of 
section 4 of the Mpumalanga Gambling Act, in consultation with the Member of the Executive Council for Finance. All members 
are non-executive and section 4 of the Act prescribes the composition of the board, as well as the skills that members should have. 
The procedure for the appointment of the Board; the tenure of office and termination of office and filling of vacancies are prescribed 
in sections 6, 7 and 8 of the Act. The Chairperson of the board has meetings with the Responsible Member from time to time to 
discuss matters pertaining to the MGb.

The table below is a reflection of the reports submitted to the Executive Authority during the period under review.  No issues have 
been raised by the Responsible Member with regard to the said reports.

Details submission Date
Strategic Plan 18 September 2012
1st Quarterly Report 31 July 2012
2nd Quarterly Report 25 October 2012
3rd Quarterly Report 31 January 2013
4th Quarterly Report 29 April 2013

4.  the Board

Introduction

The board is the accounting authority of the MGb. The members of the board are appointed by the Responsible Member in terms 
of section 4 and subject to sections 5 to 8 of the Mpumalanga Gambling Act.  The Board acts as the focal point for, and custodian 
of corporate governance. The board appreciates that strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are inseparable. The board and 
each member of the board has a working understanding of the effect of applicable laws, rules, codes and standards applicable to 
the MGb and its functions as the regulator of gambling in the province.
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the board
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From left to right: Jerry Vilakazi (Chairperson), Helen Thrush (Member),  Robert Masambo (Member), Mildred Sephiri (Deputy Chairperson),  Bheki Mlambo (Chief 
Executive Officer), Lemon Mahlangu (Member), Angelo Sebastian (Member), Sam Mthembu (Member), Johann du Preez (Member) and Sandile Skhosana (Member).

Absent - Rachel Kalidass (Member).
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the role of the Board is as follows:

In accordance with the aforementioned parameters of corporate governance, the specific responsibilities discharged by the Board 
collectively, as well as certain roles and responsibilities incumbent upon the Members, as individuals, include the following;

• Retaining full and effective control over the MGB, and monitoring management’s implementation of the strategic plans and 
financial objectives, as approved by the Board.

• Defining levels of materiality, reserving specific powers to itself and delegating other matters to management.
• Continually monitoring the exercise of delegated powers to management.
• Ensuring that a comprehensive system of policies and procedures are in place and appropriate governance structures exist to 

ensure the smooth, efficient and prudent stewardship of the MGB.
• Ensuring compliance by the MGb with all relevant laws and regulations, audit and accounting principles, the MGb Codes of 

Ethics and Conduct, and such other principles as may be established by the board from time to time.
• Regularly reviewing and evaluating the risks to the business of the MGb and ensuring the existence of comprehensive, 

appropriate internal controls to mitigate such risks.
• Exercising objective judgment on the affairs of the MGB, independent from management, but with sufficient management 

information to enable appropriate and informed assessment.
• Identifying and monitoring non-financial aspects relevant to the business of the MGB, and ensuring that the MGB acts 

responsibly towards all relevant stakeholders having a legitimate interest in its affairs.

Board charter

The board has a charter which is aligned to King III and which is reviewed annually.  

The charter deals with the role of the board (which includes strategic planning, monitoring of operational performance and 
management and policy processes), composition of the board, requirements for board members, leadership, board governance 
(which includes Board meetings, Board Committees, independent professional advice and conflicts of interest), Board secretariat, 
risk management, compliance and internal audit, reporting and accountability, as well as the process for review of the board Charter.  

The appendices to the board Charter set out matters reserved for board decision, powers of appointment, remuneration and 
delegation of authority, strategic and financial matters, regulatory and governance issues, policy development, stakeholder relations 
and general issues relating to the appointment, induction and training of board members, duties of board members, the role of 
the Chairperson, the principal functions of the CEO, delegation of powers to the CEO, the role of the board Secretariat and board 
governance issues.

The appendices also include the Audit Committee Charter, terms of reference of the Corporate Services and Compliance Committees, 
the board corporate governance questionnaire, the board self-evaluation form and the Audit Committee self-assessment guide.  

The board complies with the board Charter.

composition of the Board 

Members of the board are appointed in terms of the Mpumalanga Gambling Act, 1995 (Act No. 5 of 1995), as amended (“the Act”), 
by the Member of the Executive Council responsible for gambling, in consultation with the Executive Council of the Mpumalanga 
Province for periods not exceeding three years and are eligible for re-appointment as members of the board at the expiry of their 
terms of office.  The composition of the Board in terms of the Mpumalanga Gambling Act, prescribes a maximum number of ten 
Board members, all of whom shall be non-executive members and the Chief Executive Officer, as an ex-officio member.
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The Board, during the period under review, consisted of the following members:

The following Board members disclosed their status as per the table below and no issues were identified in this regard:

Mr. J.S. Vilakazi Chairperson
Ms M.C.N. Sephiri Deputy Chairperson
Mr. P.J. du Preez Chairperson of Compliance Committee
Ms. H. Thrush Chairperson of Corporate Services Committee
Mr. M.S. Mthembu Chairperson of Audit Committee
Mr. S.D. Skhosana board Member
Mr. D.J.L. Mahlangu board Member
Ms. R. Kalidass board Member
Mr. A.D.J. Sebastian board Member
Mr. R. Masambo board Member

composition of the Board

name Designation Date 
appointed

Date 
resigned Qualifications area of 

expertise
Board 

Directorships
other 

committees no. of meetings attended

Mr. J.S. Vilakazi Chairperson 01 April 
2012

N/A * A * ** 4 of 5 board meetings. 2 of 2 
Special board meetings. 

Ms. M.C.N. Sephiri Deputy Chairperson 01 April 
2012

N/A * b & C * ** 5 of 5 board meetings. 2 of 2 
Special board meetings.

Mr. P.J. du Preez Chairperson of 
Compliance Committee

01 April 
2012

N/A * D * ** 5 of 5 board meetings. 2 of 2 
Special board meetings

Ms. H. Thrush Chairperson of Corporate 
Services Committee

01 April 
2012

N/A * E * ** 5 of 5 board meetings. 1 of 2 
Special board meeting.

Mr. M.S. Mthembu Chairperson of Audit 
Committee.

01 April 
2012

N/A * F * ** 5 of 5 board meetings. 2 of 2 
Special board meetings

Mr. S.D. Skhosana board Member 01 April 
2012

N/A * G * ** 5 of 5 board meetings. 2 of 2 
Special board meetings.

Mr. D.J.L. Mahlangu board Member 01 April 
2012

N/A * G * ** 5 of 5 board meetings. 2 of 2 
Special board meetings.

Ms. R. Kalidass board Member 01 April 
2012

N/A * G * ** 4 of 5 board meetings. 0 of 2 
Special board meetings.

Mr. A.D.J. Sebastian board Member 01 April 
2012

N/A * H * ** 2 of 5 board meetings. 2 of 2 
Special board meetings.

Mr. R. Masambo board Member 01 April 
2012

N/A * I * ** 4 of 5 board meetings. 1 of 2 
Special board meetings.

* Information is kept on file and was made available to external auditors for auditing purposes.
** Refer to page 44 for details.

area of expertise legend
a - section 4(1)(a)
A person with applicable knowledge or experience with regard to matters connected with the functions of the board.
B - section 4(1)(g)
Appointed due to regional interests in the Province, not in the full-time service of the State, the Province or a Local Authority and have proven business acumen or 
applicable knowledge or experience in the field of and socio-economic development and fit and proper to represent the community at large.
c - section 4(1)(h)
Appointed by board as Deputy Chairperson.
D - section 4(1)(b)
Appointed as a member who is qualified to be admitted to practise as a legal practitioner in the Republic and has, for a cumulative period of at least five years after having 
so qualified, practised as a legal practitioner or performed services related to the application or administration of the law.
e - section 4(1)(c)
Appointed as a person who is qualified as a chartered accountant in the Republic and has, for a cumulative period of at least five years after having so qualified, practised 
as a chartered accountant.
f - section 4(1)(d)
Appointed as a member who shall have proven business acumen in the tourism industry.
G - section 4(1)(g)
Appointed due to regional interests in the Province, not in the full-time service of the State, the Province or a Local Authority and have proven business acumen or 
applicable knowledge or experience in the field of community and socio-economic development and fit and proper to represent the community at large.
H - section 4(1)(e)
Appointed as a person representing the Department entrusted with the responsibility for gambling in the Province, designated by the Responsible Member.
I - section 4(1)(f)
Appointed as a person representing the Department responsible for financial affairs in the Province, designated by the Member of the Executive Council.
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committees

The Board consists of three (3) committees namely the: Corporate Services Committee, Audit Committee and Compliance 
Committee. 

corporate services committee

The Corporate Services Committee provides the board with assurance regarding the quality and reliability of the management 
information of the MGB. The responsibilities of the Corporate Services Committee include:

• Considering the proposals received relating to the annual budget and submitting recommendations to the board for 
consideration and approval;

• Reviewing performance against budget;
• Fulfilling the function of a Remuneration Committee;
• Approving revision of the MGB’s internal control policies and procedures;
• Approving procurement of goods and services in excess of R500 000.00, in terms of the Supply Chain Management Framework 

and the Treasury Regulations issued in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA); and
• Monitoring MGB’s social responsibility performance, as well as MGB’s compliance with the Broad-based Black Economic 

Empowerment Act, 2004 and Codes of Good Practice.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Corporate Services Committee held six scheduled meetings and two special meetings. 
The attendance of the members is recorded on page 44.

from left to right: lemon mahlangu 
(member), robert masambo (member), 
Helen thrush (chairperson) and angelo 
sebastian (member).

corporate servIces 
commIttee
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audit committee

The Audit Committee has been established in terms of sections 51(1)(a)(ii) and 76(4)(d) of the Public Finance Management Act 
and the Treasury Regulation 27.1, to  review and monitor the scope and effectiveness of the internal and external audit function. 

The Committee has formal terms of reference, dealing adequately with its authority and duties. The Committee has satisfied its 
responsibilities for the year, in compliance with its terms of reference. The Audit Committee maintains an effective working 
relationship with the board, management, and internal and external auditors.  

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include:

• Determining the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control systems;
• Evaluating effectiveness or risk management;
• Performing the functions required of it by law;
• Reviewing the significant accounting and reporting issues, including professional and regulatory pronouncements, and their 

impact on the financial statements, with a view to ensuring consistency with the appropriate accounting principles;
• Reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function that is performed by external practitioners, whose major 

responsibilities include the examination and evaluation of the effectiveness and performance of operational activities and 
systems, together with the attendant business risks and financial controls;

• Reviewing the scope, performance, significant findings and recommendations made by the internal and external auditors; and
• Reviewing any statement on ethical standards or requirements and the procedures to review compliance to the Codes of Ethics 

and Conduct.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Audit Committee held four scheduled meetings and the attendance of the members is 
recorded on page 44.

audIt commIttee

from left to right: Brendyn meyer (Independent 
audit committee member), Helen thrush 
(member), sam mthembu (chairperson), Jerry 
sithole (Independent audit committee member) 
and Gaylene Deiner (Independent audit 
committee member).
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compliance committee

The Compliance Committee of the MGb, established in terms of the provisions of section 16 of the Mpumalanga Gambling Act, 
is responsible for:

• Considering and making recommendations to the board on investigation, licensing, regulatory compliance and gambling audit 
matters;

• Conducting hearings, enquiries and evaluations on any matter presented before it;
• Reviewing findings relating to, among others, special investigations, illegal gambling activities, cheating activities, excluded 

persons and patron disputes;
• Exercising the powers and functions provided for in Sections 36A of the Act and Chapter III of the Mpumalanga Gambling 

Regulations;
• Monitoring the adherence to Internal Control Procedures (ICPs), bid commitments and licence conditions by the licensees; 

and
• Imposing fines and issuing warnings to holders of licences, certificates of suitability and certificates of approval on disciplinary 

matters presented before it.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Compliance Committee held five scheduled meetings and one special meeting and the 
attendance of the members is recorded on page 44.

complIance commIttee

from left to right: sandile skhosana (member), 
mildred sephiri (member), Johann du Preez 
(chairperson) and angelo sebastian (member).
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committee no. of meetings Held no. of members name of members

Corporate Services Committee Six scheduled meetings
Two special meetings

Four members Ms. H. Thrush (23/05/12 - 27/03/13)
Mr. M.S. Mthembu (23/05/12 - 23/08/12)
Mr. R. Masambo (19/06/12 - 17/07/12)
Mr. D.J.L. Mahlangu (16/10/12 - 07/03/13)
Mr. A.D.J. Sebastian (21/08/12 -14/02/13)

Audit Committee Four scheduled meetings Five members Mr. M.S. Mthembu (16/10/12 - 12/02/13)
Ms. H. Thrush (23/05/12 - 12/02/13)
Mr. S. Skhosana (23/05/12 - 17/07/12)
Mr. A.C. Keyser (23/05/12 - 17/07/12)
Mr. T.T. Ntuli (23/05/12 - 17/07/12)
Ms. G. Deiner (23/05/12 - 12/02/13)
Mr. J. Sithole (16/10/12 - 12/02/13)

Compliance Committee Five scheduled meetings
One special meeting

Four members Mr. J.P. du Preez (19/04/12 - 14/02/13)
Ms. M.C.N. Sephiri (19/04/12 - 14/02/13)
Mr. S.D. Skhosana (19/04/12 - 14/02/13)
Mr. D.J.L. Mahlangu (19/04/12 -21/08/12)
Mr. A.D.J. Sebastian (21/08/12 -14/02/13)

remuneration of Board members
Remuneration of board members is dealt with in terms of section 9 of the Mpumalanga Gambling Act.  Members of the board, who 
are not in the full time service of the State, are paid such remuneration and allowances from the funds of the board, as determined 
by the Responsible Member, after consultation with the Member of the Executive Council responsible for Finance in the province.  
The Board’s subsistence and travel allowances are also paid by the MGB.

name Board remuneration
r

other allowance
r

total remuneration
r

other 
re-imbursements

r

total
r

Mr. J.S. Vilakazi 140 000 12 000 152 000 8 646 160 646 
Ms. M.C.N. Sephiri 247 500 9 000 256 500 4 113 260 613 
Ms. H. Thrush 160 500 6 000 166 500 10 284 176 784 
Mr. S.D. Skhosana 136 500 3 000 139 500 53 849 193 349 
Mr. P.J. du Preez 114 500 4 750 119 250 7 655 126 905 
Mr. M.S. Mthembu 145 000 6 000 151 000 8 668 159 668 
Mr. D.J.L. Mahlangu 153 500 4 750 158 250 56 728 214 978 
Ms. R. Kalidass 31 500 2 250 33 750 742 34 492 

1 129 000 47 750 1 176 750 150 685 1 327 435 

remuneration of audit committee members

name
audit committee 

remuneration
r

other allowance
r

total remuneration
r

other 
re-imbursements

r

total
r

Mr. A.C. Keyser 14 000 500 14 500 189 14 689 
Mr. T.T. Ntuli 14 000 500 14 500 6 191 20 691 
Ms. G.A. Deiner 38 500 2 000 40 500 10 431 50 931 
Mr. J.K. Sithole 21 000 1 500 22 500 3 652 26 152 
Mr. M.S. Mthembu 30 000 -   30 000 - 30 000 
Mr. S.D. Skhosana 21 000 -   21 000 - 21 000 
Ms H. Thrush 38 000 -   38 000 3 652 41 652 

176 500 4 500 181 000 24 115 198 115 
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5. risk management 

Risks are evaluated in terms of impact, likelihood of occurrence, and the perceived effectiveness of controls in place to manage 
the risks.

There are current business processes/controls in place to manage the risks identified.

6. Internal control unit  

The MGB’s processes are automated and centralised to minimise errors, and are well documented in the Internal Control Procedures 
(“ICP”) document which is reviewed annually. The Corporate Services Department acts as the custodian who administers the 
implementation, the policies and procedures in order to reduce issues of non-compliance when executing transactions.

Internal controls are implemented by the various departments within the MGb, which are required to comply with the ICP. 
Departmental managers monitor the implementation of the ICP. 

The Audit Committee and Internal Audit function have full access to all records, properties and personnel of MGb. All staff and 
management of MGb endeavour to provide necessary assistance to, and co-operate with, staff of the Internal Audit function in the 
performance of their duties.

The ICP encompasses the policies, processes, tasks, behaviours and other aspects of the business of the board to ensure compliance 
with applicable legislation, regulations and also with the internal policies and procedures to ensure that the board operates 
effectively and efficiently and has a reliable operational, financial and human resources reporting system. 
 

7. Internal audit and audit committee 

The objective of the internal audit function is to provide an independent and objective assurance and consulting services to the MGB. 

The work of internal audit during the period under review, included the assessment of the internal controls, audit of performance 
information, Human Resource and financial audits.  

Relevant information on the Audit Committee Members is set out in the table below: 

name Qualifications Date appointed no. of meetings 
attended

Mr. M.S. Mthembu Master of business Leadership, bachelor of Commerce 
(Accounting) Diploma in Accounting and business Studies.

18/09/2012 Two of four 
meetings.

Ms. H. Thrush Chartered Accountant, bachelor of Commerce, bachelor of 
Accounting Science.

15/05/2010 and  
re-appointed on 18/09/2012

Four of four 
meetings.

Mr. S.D. Skhosana b. Proc, Legal Practice - Association of Law Societies of R.S.A 
Schools.

15/05/2010 to 18/09/2012 Two of four 
meetings.

Mr. A.C. Keyser Various Wits business School Courses (Personnel, Accounting, 
Human Relations).

1/09/2009 to 30/09/2012 Two of four 
meetings.

Mr. T.T. Ntuli Certificate in Internal Auditing, Diploma in Business 
Accounting, Certificate in Practical Bookkeeping of 
Accountancy, bachelor of business Administration.

1/09/2009 to 30/09/2012 Two of four 
meetings.
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Relevant information on the Audit Committee Members (continued)

name Qualifications Date appointed no. of meetings 
attended

Ms. G. Deiner bA Degree, Higher Diploma in Education, b.Compt, IAT, 
SAIPA Member, Registered Tax Practitioner.

1/09/2009 to 30/09/2012 
and re-appointed 
1/10/2012 to 30/09/2015

Four of four 
meetings.

Mr. J. Sithole b. Com, (UNIN) Hons b. Compt, CA (SA), Member of South 
African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

1/10/2012 to 30/09/2015 Two of four 
meetings.

8. compliance with laws and regulations

As part of the risk management process, one of the strategic risks of the MGb is compliance with statutory obligations. The MGb 
has therefore identified the main pieces of legislation which it is obliged to comply with, and the table setting out the said legislation 
is available on the Knowledge Management Database.

The aims of the Legal Compliance Framework are to put an effective system in place to ensure compliance with relevant legislation, 
to raise awareness to staff about the legislative compliance relevant to the business of the MGb, and to promote a sound compliance 
culture at the MGb.

The Legal Services Department subscribes to legislation alert services (Lee’s Compliance Solutions (Pty) Ltd, Corporate Lawyers 
Association of South Africa and Sabinet Netlaw) and the department receives regular notification of all new legislation or 
amendments to existing legislation. The department also makes use of the internet to track changes in legislation.  board and staff 
members are notified of legislative changes on at least a quarterly basis.

At a strategic level, the Board carries the overall responsibility for ensuring that the MGB fulfils its legal obligations and effectively 
manages any risk exposure that may result from legal compliance failures. The board is assisted in this regard through monitoring 
by the Audit Committee, as well as assurance provided by Management.

Managers are expected to promote, monitor and uphold a positive culture within their sphere of authority and control, to investigate 
and respond to alleged compliance breaches, and to implement the necessary measures to assist the MGb to meet its compliance 
obligations.

Staff members have a responsibility to familiarise themselves with legislation that impacts their day-to-day work and to ensure that 
their activities on behalf of the MGb comply with applicable legislation.

9.  fraud and corruption 

Fraud prevention plans are in place and implemented. This was also confirmed by the internal auditors in their report dated 18 
March 2013.  There are mechanisms in place to report fraud as per the Fraud Prevention Plan.
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10.  Minimising Conflict of Interest 

The policy of the MGb provides that all employees must disclose and update, annually, all outside business interests, whether direct 
or indirect, by completing the prescribed “Declaration of Outside Interest” form and this was done by 31 March by all employees 
of the board. All interests that result in an employee earning additional income or which will take up a material portion of the 
employee’s private time, must be disclosed, in writing to the CEO for his approval.

In accordance with the provisions of section 5(1)(b)(i)(ii) and section 5(2)(a) of the Mpumalanga Gambling Act, an employee must 
disclose situations that could give rise to a conflict of interest or to a change of their employment suitability, if he/she:

• whether personally or through his/her spouse, an immediate family member, partner or associate has or acquires direct or 
indirect financial or controlling interest in any gambling activity; or

• has any interest in any business that may conflict or interfere with the proper performance of his/her functions as a staff 
member of the MGb.

Section 12 of the Act deals with the position of public trust of the Board, as well as conflicts of interest, which include the 
appropriate conduct for dealing with conflicts. Board Members declare any conflict of interest that they may have at each meeting 
after the adoption of the agenda of the meeting and furthermore, annually complete Declaration of Interest forms that are kept on 
file by the Board Secretariat.  

In general, Board members must inform the Board of any actual, suspected or potential conflict of interests they may have in 
relation to particular items of business, as soon as they become aware of such conflict or potential conflict.

Board members must recuse themselves from discussions or decisions on matters in which they have a conflict of interest.

11. code of conduct  

The employees of the Board are subject to the Mpumalanga Gambling Act, MGB’s Code of Ethics, the Board’s Internal Control 
Procedures and any other relevant legislation. The employees are reminded that adherence thereto is of utmost importance for the 
successful management and ultimately, the continued existence of the organisation. They are mindful of the fact that fraud thrives 
in an environment devoid of moral behaviour and ethical standards.

The board has a Code of Ethics, which is reviewed annually, as well as an ethics evaluation form which is completed annually by 
board and Audit Committee members. The Code of Ethics is aligned to King III and breaches of the Code of Ethics are dealt with 
by the Chairperson of the board.

12.  Health, safety and environmental Issues  

The MGB is concerned about the health, safety, wellness and job satisfaction of employees and therefore seeks to support and 
enhance employee wellbeing in the organisation.

A Health and Safety Committee is in place. The Committee is responsible for the identification and elimination of all potential 
health and safety hazards and to ensure that the workplace is equipped with the necessary health and safety resources such as first 
aid kits, fire extinguishers, clear evacuation routes and emergency exits.
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The MGB recognises that most personal problems can be resolved provided that such problems are identified in the early stages. 
Problems related to physical illness, mental or emotional stress, financial stress, marital or family conflicts, chemical or substance 
dependency, etc. may have a profound impact upon the lives of those employees affected, which in turn may affect fellow employees 
and their work performance.

The Health and Safety Committee also serves as Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) Committee to ensure a voluntary advisory 
and information service to employees. The employee may consult directly with the Human Resources Manager and/or any member 
of the Health and Safety Committee. 

The Committee ensures that all matters referred are kept confidential and any discussions must be held with the written approval 
of the employee. The employee must give written permission for disclosure of any personal information to a third party, but such 
permission must be provided voluntarily and freely.

13.  company/Board secretary 

Not applicable. board secretary role and responsibilities not prescribed in terms of the Companies Act.

14.  social responsibility 

The MGb is committed to occupying an impactful role as a socially responsible corporate citizen.  In this context we have embraced 
a variety of socially responsible business practices which include a commitment to pro-actively invest in the social development 
needs of the communities within which we operate.

During the period under review, the board has supported various community development and charitable causes, ranging from 
donation of food parcels to office furniture and computer equipment. 
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We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2013.

audit committee responsibility

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from Section 51(i)(a)(ii) and 76(4)(d) of the 
Public Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulation 27.1. The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate 
formal terms of reference as its Audit Committee Charter. The Committee has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter 
and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein. 

the effectiveness of Internal control

The system of internal controls is designed to provide cost effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and that liabilities and 
working capital are efficiently managed. The system of internal control applied by the MGB over financial and risk management 
is effective, efficient and transparent.

In accordance with the PFMA and the King III Report on Corporate Governance requirements, Internal Audit provides the Audit 
Committee and management with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and effective. 

This is achieved by means of the risk management process, as well as the identification of corrective action and suggested 
enhancements to the controls and processes. From the various reports of the Internal Auditors, the Audit Report on the Annual 
Financial Statements and the Management Letter of the Auditor-General, it was noted that no significant or material non-compliance 
with prescribed policies and procedures have been reported. Accordingly, we can report that the system of internal control for the 
period under review was effective and efficient.

The following internal audit work was completed during the period under review:

Project name Quarter
Performance audit Second
HR Audit Second
Strategic issues Third   
Audit of performance information Fourth

It is of note that there were no areas of concern raised by the internal auditors in all the audits performed during the period under 
review.

In-year management and monthly/Quarterly report

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of the reports issued by the Accounting Authority and the Mpumalanga 
Gambling board during the year under review.

15. audIt commIttee report
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evaluation of financial statements

We have reviewed the information on pre-determined objectives and annual financial statements prepared by the MGB.

We concur with and accept the Auditor-General of South Africa’s report on the annual financial statements, and are of the opinion 
that the audited annual financial statements should be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-General South 
Africa.

Internal audit

We are satisfied that the internal audit function is operating effectively and that it has addressed the risks pertinent to the MGB in 
its audits. 

auditor’s report

We have reviewed the public entity’s implementation plan for audit issues raised in the prior year and we are satisfied that the
matters have been adequately resolved.

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the conclusions of the external auditor on the annual financial statements and is of the 
opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the auditor.

sam mthembu
Chairperson of the Audit Committee
23 May 2013
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1.  Introduction

The staff compliment of the board consists of 57 employees. On 31 March 2013, the staff compliment was 55 employees, with two 
vacancies, which were filled on 1 April 2013. The set priorities for the period under review were as follows: 

• Review of Internal Control Procedure (ICP) Manual: the ICP’s were reviewed and updated.
• Staff recruitment: Staff were recruited according to the prescribed Recruitment Policy.
• Educational assistance: Staff were provided with educational assistance to upgrade their skills and qualifications.
• Annual training plans: Staff were provided with training to enhance their skills and knowledge to perform optimally in their 

positions.
• Performance management: The annual staff performance appraisals were conducted and performance bonuses were paid to 

staff according to the results of their performance appraisals. 
• Employee Wellness Programme: A Corporate Wellness Day was held with the assistance of Discovery Health Medical Scheme, 

employees were provided with health assessments such as healthy lifestyle choices, stress management, voluntary screening tests 
for glucose levels, blood pressure, cholesterol and HIV/AIDS. A Sports Day was held with a view of increasing employee morale, 
promoting employees’ health and fitness, with the ultimate purpose of increasing the workplace productivity.

• Employment Equity Plans: The Employment Equity Plans were developed by the Employment Equity Committee in 
consultation with staff and submitted to the Department of Labour, after approval by the board.

• Annual salary reviews: The staff’s salary packages were reviewed and annual increases were implemented on 1 April 2012.
• Awards ceremony: As part of the Board’s staff retention initiatives, staff are formally honoured for long service and the 

acquisition of new qualifications at a formal ceremony, to recognise, appreciate and acknowledge staff for their efforts, 
dedication and contribution to the success of the board. 

2.  Human resource oversight statistics

Personnel cost by Programme 

Programme
total expenditure 

for the entity 
r

Personnel 
expenditure 

r

Personnel 
expenditure 

as a % of total  
expenditure 

no. of employees
average Personnel 
cost per employee 

r

Executive Office 3 612 161 2 176 636 60% 3 725 545
Investigations and 
Licensing 

4 279 958 4 161 561 97% 8 520 195

Gambling Control 5 670 717 4 937 456 87% 12 411 455
Gambling Audit 5 039 878 4 516 805 90% 10 451 680
Legal Services 1 692 174 1 643 903 97% 3 547 968
Corporate Services 12 710 767 5 715 741 45% 9 635 082
Communications 7 076 596 3 261 825 46% 10 326 183

Personnel cost by salary Band

level Personnel expenditure 
r

% of Personnel 
expenditure to total 

Personnel cost
no. of employees 

average cost per 
employee

r
Senior management -E band 7 329 693 28% 7 1 047 099
Professional qualified - D Band 6 853 992 26% 12 571 166
Skilled  - C band 7 784 713 29% 23 338 465
Semi-skilled - b band 2 312 708 9% 13 177 901
Staff retention and other benefits 2 279 556 8% 55 41 446 
total 26 560 662 100% 55 482 921

human resource manaGement
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Performance rewards

Programme Performance rewards 
r

Personnel expenditure 
r

% Performance rewards of 
total Personnel cost 

Senior management 817 847 7 239 693 11%
Professional qualified 646 266 6 853 992 9%
Skilled 638 403 7 784 713 8%
Semi-skilled 120 305 2 312 708 5%
Unskilled N/A N/A N/A
total 2 222 821 24 191 106 9%

training costs 

Directorate/ 
Business unit

Personnel 
expenditure 

r

training 
expenditure

r

training 
expenditure as a % 
of Personnel cost

no. of employees 
trained

avg. training  cost 
per employee

r
Executive Office 2 176 636 374 564 17% 3 124 854
Investigations and 
Licensing

4 161 561 49 434 1% 9 5 493

Gambling Control 4 937 456 224 133 5% 9 24 904
Gambling Audit 4 516 805 97 782 2% 10 9 778 
Legal Services 1 643 903 148 059 9% 3 49 353
Corporate Services 5 715 741 32 027 1% 7 4 575
Communications 3 261 825 92 140 3% 5 18 428
In-house - All Staff 26 413 927 115 690 0.04% 55 2 103

educational assistance – fY 2012/2013  

academic Institution type of study no. of employees
MANCOSA Masters business Administration 2
UNISA Master business Leadership 4
UNISA bachelor of Arts - Communication Science 1
UNISA bachelor of Commerce - General 2
UNISA bachelor of Law - LLb 1
UNISA Master of Law 1
UNISA Post Graduate Diploma Accounting 1
UNISA National Diploma Information Technology 1
UNISA National Diploma Public Relations 3
UNISA National Diploma Risk Management 1
UNISA National Diploma Law 1

employment and vacancies

Programme 2011/2012
no. of employees

2012/2013 
approved Posts

2012/2013
no. of employees

2012/2013
vacancies % of vacancies

Executive Office 3 3 3 0 0

Investigations 9 9 8 1 50%
Gambling Audit 10 10 10 0 0
Gambling Control 11 12 12 0 0
Corporate Services 9 10 9 1 50%
Legal Services 3 3 3 0 0
Communications 7 10 10 0 0
total 52 (2 vacant) 57 55 2 100%

human resource manaGement (contInued)
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employment and vacancies (continued)

Programme 2011/2012
no. of employees

2012/2013 
approved Posts

2012/2013
no. of employees

2012/2013
vacancies % of vacancies

Senior management –E 7 7 7 0 0

Professional qualified – D 11 13 12 1 50%

Skilled – C 20 24 23 1 50%

Semi-skilled –b 14 13 13 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0

total 52 57 55 2 100%

employment changes

salary Band employment at 
Beginning of Period appointments terminations employment at end of 

the Period

Senior management - E 7 0 0 7

Professional qualified - D 11 3 2 12

Skilled - C 20 6 7 19

Semi-skilled - b 14 3 0 17

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

total 52 12 9 55

*Notes: 
1. The total staff structure increased from 54 to 57 on 1 April 2013.
2. There were 10 actual new appointments, however two staff members were promoted internally from C band to D band to fill two vacancies 

which arose from the previous financial year.

reasons for staff leaving 

reason number % of total no. of staff leaving

Resignation 9 100%

total 9 100%

An analysis of the exit interviews reflects that in most instances staff resigned from the Board for better salary and benefit 
opportunities. The vacant positions were subsequently filled in accordance with the Recruitment Policy of the Board.

labour relations: misconduct and disciplinary action

No disciplinary action was taken during the year under review.

human resource manaGement (contInued)



55

equity target and employment equity status 

levels

male

african coloured Indian White

current target current target current target current target

Senior management 4 2 0 0 0 1 1 1

Professional qualified 4 5 0 1 0 0 3 1

Skilled 10 10 0 0 1 1 2 1

Semi-skilled 3 3 0 1 0 0 0 1

total 21 20 0 2 1 2 6 4

levels

female

african coloured Indian White

current target current target current target current target

Senior management 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 1

Professional qualified 4 4 1 1 0 0 0 1

Skilled 8 10 1 1 1 1 0 1

Semi-skilled 10 5 0 0 0 1 0 1

total 22 21 2 2 1 2 2 4

levels

Disabled staff

male female

current target current target

Semi-skilled 0 0 1 1

total 0 0 1 1

Employment equity: during the period under review the Board achieved its target for the appointment of one (1) person with a 
disability. The achievement of the targets depend on factors such as staff turnover, creation of new positions, retirement, death and 
the availability of suitably qualified people in the province. Cognisance is taken of the targets during the recruitment process and 
positions are filled according to the targets of the Employment Equity Plans.

human resource manaGement (contInued)



Part E 
Financial Information

Statement of Responsibility for Performance Information and Annual Financial Statements ........................... 57

Report of the Chief Executive Officer ............................................................................................................... 58

Report of the Auditor-General ............................................................................................................................ 60

Report of the Accounting Authority ................................................................................................................... 62

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2013 ........................................................................................ 63

Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 31 March 2013 ........................................................... 64

Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the year ended 31 March 2013 .......................................................... 65

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2013 .................................................................................. 66

Statement of Comparison of budget and Actual amounts for the year ended 31 March 2013 .......................... 67

Accounting Policies for the year ended 31 March 2013 .................................................................................... 68

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 .................................................... 76

Materiality and Significance Framework ........................................................................................................... 88

56



57

The MGb is responsible for monitoring the preparation, as well as the integrity and reliability of the performance information, 
Annual Financial Statements and related information included in this Annual Report. In order for the Accounting Authority to 
discharge these responsibilities, as well as those bestowed on it in terms of the Public Finance Management Act and other applicable 
legislation, it has developed and maintained a system of internal controls.

The internal controls include a risk-based system of internal accounting and administrative controls, designed to provide reasonable, 
but not absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with generally 
accepted business practices and the entity’s policies and procedures. Monitoring of these controls includes a regular review of their 
operations by the Accounting Authority and independent oversight by an Audit Committee.

As part of the system of internal control the outsourced internal audit function conducts operational financial and specific audits and 
co-ordinates audit coverage with the external auditors. The Auditor-General is responsible for reporting on the Annual Financial 
Statements. The Annual Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practices (GRAP). They are based on appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgement and estimates.

The MGB believes that the performance information fairly reflects the actual achievement against planned objectives, indicators 
and targets, as per the strategic and annual performance plans for the year ended 31 March 2013.  The performance information has 
been examined by the external auditors and their report is presented on page 60 (Report of the Auditor-General).

The Accounting Authority believes that the MGb will be a going concern in the year ahead due to the government grant. For this 
reason the accounting authority continues to adopt the going-concern basis in preparing the Annual Financial Statements.

The Accounting Authority approved the performance information for the year ended 31 March 2013 as set out on pages 21 to 34, 
as well as the Annual Financial Statements as set out on pages 62 to 88, on 23 May 2013 which were signed on its behalf by:

J.s. vilakazi B.J. mlambo  
Chairperson of the board Chief Executive Officer
23 May 2013 23 May 2013

statement of responsIbIlIty 
for performance InformatIon and annual fInancIal statements
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report of the 

chIef executIve offIcer

1. General financial review of the mGB

The summarised results of the MGB’s operations for the year ended 31 March 2013 are as follows:

Details
2013

r
2012

r
Transfer Revenue 41 852 299 39 904 958
(Deficit)/ Surplus for the year (1 808 367) 974 407 

Total Assets 33 170 016 34 901 981
Total Liabilities 13 181 966 13 105 563

2. spending trends

The MGB funds its operations out of a fixed budget allocation. It was important of the MGB to control the spending by implementing 
controls which were consistently monitored and adhered to. The management team is responsible for establishing and maintaining a 
high level of financial discipline that effectively provides a basis for executing the budget, as well as providing accurate and timely 
reports on budget versus actual for both revenues and expenditures. In addition, the management team has the responsibility to 
develop and manage a system of financial controls to monitor revenues and ensure that expenditures are incurred in accordance 
with the approved budget.

3. capacity constraints and challenges

No capacity constraints and challenges were faced by the MGb which could have hindered the organisation from achieving the 
set goals.

4. supply chain management

Pursuant to the treasury guidelines, the MGb adopted an integrated approach to deal with the Supply Chain Management  
framework (SCM) by centralising and creating a separate unit in the organisation. This was done in order to comply with the  
provision of the Constitution, that procurement practices must be fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and cost-effective. There 
were no deviations to the SCM processes as prescribed during the period under review.
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5. Plans for the future to address financial challenges

The MGb is looking forward to continued support and funding from the Department of Economic Development, Environment and 
Tourism in order to fulfil its mandate as prescribed. Although, no challenges are envisaged in the next financial year.

6. events after the reporting Date

There were no events subsequent to the date of the financial statements, for which the financial reporting framework required  
adjustment or disclosure of. 

7. acknowledgements or appreciation

The MGB acknowledges and appreciate the grant of R 41 908 000 received for the period under review  and further confirm that it  
was utilised for the intended purpose, as per the approved annual operational plan of the MGb.

B.J. mlambo
Chief Executive Officer
23 May 2013

report of the chIef executIve offIcer (contInued)
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report of the 

audItor-General

rePort of tHe auDItor-General to tHe mPumalanGa ProvInIcal leGIslature on tHe 
mPumalanGa GamBlInG BoarD

rePort on tHe fInancIal statements

Introduction

1. I have audited the financial statements of the Mpumalanga Gambling Board as set out on pages 62 to 88, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2013, the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets 
and the cash flow statement for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

Accounting Authority’s responsibility for the financial statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the  
requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No.1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for such internal 
control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

auditor-General’s responsibility

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted my audit in accordance 
with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004, (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the general notice issued in terms thereof and 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial  
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

opinion

6. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Mpumalanga  
Gambling Board as at 31 March 2013 and its financial performance, cash flows and statement of comparison of budget and 
actual information for the year then ended in accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.
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rePort on otHer leGal anD reGulatorY reQuIrements

7. In accordance with the PAA and the General Notice issued in terms thereof, I report the following findings relevant to  
performance against predetermined objectives, compliance with laws and regulations and internal control, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion.

Predetermined objectives

8. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the information in the report on  
predetermined objectives as set out on pages 21 to 34 of the annual report.

9. The reported performance against predetermined objectives was evaluated against the overall criteria of usefulness and  
reliability. The usefulness of information in the annual performance report relates to whether it is presented in accordance 
with the National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance is consistent with the planned 
objectives. The usefulness of information further relates to whether indicators and targets are measurable (i.e. well defined, 
verifiable, specific, measurable and time bound) and relevant as required by the National Treasury Framework for managing 
programme performance information.

10. The reliability of the information in respect of the selected programmes is assessed to determine whether it adequately reflects 
the facts (i.e. whether it is valid, accurate and complete).

11. There were no material findings on the report on predetermined objectives concerning the usefulness and reliability of the 
information.

compliance with laws and regulations

12. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the entity has complied with applicable laws and regulations regarding  
financial matters, financial management and other related matters. I did not identify any instances of material non-compliance 
with specific matters in key applicable laws and regulations as set out in the general notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Internal control

13. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, report on predetermined objectives and  
compliance with laws and regulations. I did not identify deficiencies in internal control that I considered sufficiently  
significant for inclusion in this report.

Nelspruit
31 July 2013

report of the audItor-General (contInued)
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report of the 

accountInG authorIty 

The Accounting Authority has pleasure in presenting its report for the year ended 31 March 2013.

Background
The Mpumalanga Gambling Board (MGB) is a juristic persona serving as a provincial public entity  established in terms of Section 
2 of the Mpumalanga Gambling Act 1995 (Act No. 5 of 1995)  as amended (the Act). The MGb reports to, and receives grants 
from, the Department of Economic Development, Environment and Tourism (DEDET). The grants received were utilised in terms 
of the approved Strategic Plan of the MGb.

The MGb has been charged with the responsibility to perform all functions assigned to it in terms of the Act, or any other applicable 
legislation, by advising, reporting or making recommendations to the Responsible Member on any matter relating to the control of 
gambling in the Mpumalanga Province.

Board members
The Board Members in office at the date of this report were re-appointed with effect from 1 April 2012 with their term expiring  
31 March 2015:

Vilakazi J.S.  Chairperson
Sephiri M.C.N.  Deputy Chairperson
Du Preez P.J.
Thrush H.
Mthembu S.M.
Skhosana S.D.
Sebastian A.D.J.
Mahlangu D.J.L.
Kalidass R.
Masambo R.
Mlambo B.J.  Chief Executive Officer (ex officio)

financial overview
The summarised results of the MGB’s operations for the year ended 31 March 2013 are as follows:

Detail
2013

r
2012

r
Transfer Revenue 41 852 299 39 904 958
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year (1 808 367) 974 407 

Total Assets 33 170 016 34 901 981
Total Liabilities 13 181 966 13 105 563

fruitless or Wasteful expenditure
It is noted that there was no fruitless or wasteful expenditure recorded during the year.

conclusion
There is no matter which the board wishes to draw attention to that has not already been highlighted elsewhere in the Annual Report. 
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notes
2013

r
2012

r

assets 
non-current assets 
Property and equipment 3 19 248 812 20 262 334
Intangible assets 4 - 74 723

19 248 812  20 337 057

current assets 
Trade and other receivables 5 6 527 649 5 196 062
Cash and cash equivalents 6 7 393 555 9 368 862

13 921 204 14 564 924 
  

total assets 33 170 016 34 901 981

liabilities 
non-current liabilities 
Long term finance lease obligation 7  106 319 308 515   

current liabilities 
Short- term portion of finance lease obligation 7  102 794 202 396
Short-term provisions 8 2 073 113 3 347 525
Trade and other payables 9 10 899 740 8 933 450
Deferred revenue 10  - 313 677

13 075 647 12 797 048

total liabilities 13 181 966 13 105 563

net assets 19 988 050 21 796 417

reserves
Non-distributable reserve 15 310 584 15 310 584
Accumulated surplus 4 677 466 6 485 833
total reserves 19 988 050 21 796 417

statement of fInancIal posItIon

as at the 31 march 2013 
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notes
2013

r
2012

r

revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer Revenue 11 41 852 299 39 904 958 
Conditional Revenue  313 677 755 151 

42 165 976 40 660 109 
revenue from exchange transactions
Other income  25 505 25 183 

42 191 481 40 685 292 
Operating expenses (44 139 052) (40 096 395)
other expenses
Loss on sale of assets  (147 103) (31 565)
(Deficit)/Surplus from operations 12 (2 094 674) 557 332 
Finance income 14  294 514 474 478 
Finance costs 15  (8 207) (57 403)
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year (1 808 367) 974 407 

statement of fInancIal performance 
for the year ended 31 march 2013
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other nDr
r

accumulated 
surplus

r
total net assets

r

Balance at 1 april 2011 10 471 762 14 311 426 24 783 188 
Revaluation of building during the year 4 838 822  - 4 838 822 
Transfer of reserves  - (8 800 000) (8 800 000)
Surplus for the year  - 974 407 974 407 
total changes 4 838 822 (7 825 593) (2 986 771)
Balance at 1 april 2012 15 310 584 6 485 833 21 796 417 
Deficit for the year  - (1 808 367) (1 808 367)
Balance at 31 march 2013 15 310 584 4 677 466 19 988 050 

other non-Distributable reserve 

The non-distributable reserves (other NDR) have accumulated through unrealised gains from property, plant and equipment 
revaluations. 

transfer of reserves

During the 2011/2012 financial year, the Board agreed to transfer an amount of R8 800 000 from MGB reserves to Treasury for use 
by the Department of Economic Development, Environment and Tourism.

accumulated funds

The accumulated surplus consists of the savings previously authorised by the executive authority for the erection of additional 
MGB offices, as well as interest earned from positive bank balances.

statement of chanGes In net assets 
for the year ended 31 march 2013 
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notes
2013

r
2012

r

Cash flows from operating activities
receipts 
Grant revenue 41 908 000 39 908 000 
Finance income  294 514  474 478 
Other receipts  25 505  25 185 

42 228 019 40 407 663 
Payments 
Employees costs (26 413 927) (24 368 607)
Suppliers (16 605 958) (13 760 903)
Finance costs  (8 207)  (57 403)

(43 028 092) (38 186 913)

Net cash flows from operating activities 16  (800 073) 2 220 750 

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment 3  (917 037) (1 251 084)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  43 601  62 363 
Net cash flows from investing activities  (873 436) (1 188 721)

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance lease payments  (301 798)  129 080 
Reserves transferred to Government  - (8 800 000)
Net cash flows from financing activities  (301 798) (8 670 920)

net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1 975 307) (7 638 891)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 9 368 862 17 007 753 
cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 7 393 555 9 368 862 

cash flow statement

for the year ended 31 march 2013
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approved final 
Budget

r

actual amounts 
on comparable 

basis
r

Difference 
between final 
budget and 

actual
r

receipts
Grant revenue 41 908 000 41 908 000 -
Finance income - 294 514 294 514
Other income - 25 505 25 505
Total receipts 41 908 000 42 228 019 320 019

Payments
Employee costs 26 904 228 (26 413 927) 490 301
Operating expenses* 14 793 772 (15 319 640) (525 868)
Finance charges - (8 207) (8 207)
Other expenditure 210 000 (118 732) 91 268
total payments 41 908 000 (41 860 506) 47 494
net payments - 367 513 367 513

* The operating expenses exclude the depreciation and amortisation expense which was not taken into account when preparing the budget for the year.

statement of comparIson of budGet and actual amounts 
for the year ended 31 march 2013 
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accountInG polIcIes
for the year ended 31 march 2013 

1.  Basis of Preparation

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council in accordance with Section 55(b) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) as amended.

1.1  Presentation of annual financial statements 

These Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting, except for the cash flow statement, 
and are in accordance with historical cost convention except as modified for the revaluation of the building, and incorporate 
the principal accounting policies set out below which are consistent with those adopted in the previous financial year. They are 
presented in South African Rands.

A summary of the significant accounting policies which have been consistently applied are disclosed below.

1.2  Property plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non current assets that are held for administrative purposes and are expected to be used 
during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity, and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other direct costs attributable to bring the asset to 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade discounts and 
rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. 

Where an asset is acquired at no cost or for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Where an item of 
property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets or a combination of monetary 
and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value was not 
determinable its deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up. 

The difference between the fair value of the items of PPE acquired for no cost or nominal cost or in the case of non-monetary 
acquisitions, will be accounted for within the non-distributable reserves (NDR). When significant components of an item of 
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, 
plant and equipment.

To maintain the value of the building in current terms, comprehensive revaluations will be carried out at least every three years. 
Each year the depreciation, based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset, is charged to the income statement. The revaluation 
increments or surplus arising upon revaluation are credited directly to the non-distributable reserve.

Other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 
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When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued it is carried at a revalued amount, being its fair value at the date of the 
revaluation, less subsequent depreciation and subsequent impairment, provided that fair value can be measured reliably. 

Depreciation is provided to write down the property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis to its residual values as follows:

Item   useful life 

buildings   20 years

Computer hardware  3 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Motor vehicles  100 000km

Office equipment  4 years 

The residual value and the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting date. If the 
expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, is 
depreciated separately. The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit, unless it is included in the 
carrying amount of another asset. Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of, or when 
there are no further economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising from the 
derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain 
or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.3  Intangible assets

An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:
• is capable of being: separated or divided from an entity; sold; transferred and disposed of; licensed,  rented or exchanged either 

individually or together with a related contract asset or liability, or

• arises from contractual rights or other legal rights regardless of whether those rights are transferable or separate from the entity 
or from other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:
• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to the 

entity, and

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

The cost of an intangible asset acquired at no or nominal cost shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets are 
carried at cost, less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite 
useful life when based on all relevant factors there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate 
net cash inflows or service potential. Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets but they are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets, amortisation is provided 
on a straight-line basis over their useful life.

accountInG polIcIes

for the perIod ended 31 march 2013 (contInued)
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The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life, after it was classified as indefinite, is an indicator that 
the asset may be impaired. As a result, the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over its 
useful life.

Internally-generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists, and items similar in substance, are not recognised as 
intangible assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets on a straight-line basis to their residual values as follows:

Item   useful life

Computer software  2 years

1.4  financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the MGb becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. The 
MGB classifies financial instruments or their component parts on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an 
equity instrument, in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. Financial instruments are measured initially at 
fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified 
as available for sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through surplus or deficit transaction costs, are included in the initial 
measurement of the instrument. Regular way purchases of financial assets are accounted for at trade date.

Derecognition 

A financial asset is derecognised when it has been transferred or disposed of, and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. A transfer 
requires that the MGB either: (a) transfers the contractual rights to receive the asset’s cash flows; or (b) retains the right to the 
asset’s cash flows but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to a third party. 

After a transfer, the MGb assesses the extent to which it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset. 
If substantially all the risks and rewards have been retained, the asset remains on the balance sheet. If substantially all the risks 
and rewards have been transferred, the asset is derecognised. If substantially all the risks and rewards have been neither retained 
nor transferred, the group assesses whether or not it has retained control of the asset. If it has not retained control, the asset is 
derecognised. Where the MGb has retained control of the asset, it continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing 
involvement.

A financial liability is removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation is discharged, cancelled, or it expires. 
On the redemption or settlement of debt securities (including subordinated liabilities) issued by MGb, the MGb derecognises the 
debt instrument and records a gain or loss, being the difference between the debt’s carrying amount and the cost of redemption or 
settlement. The same treatment applies where the debt is exchanged for a new debt issue that has terms substantially different from 
those of the existing debt. The assessment of whether the terms of the new debt instrument are substantially different takes into 
account qualitative and quantitative characteristics, including a comparison of the discounted present value of the cash flows under 
the new terms, with the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original debt issue.
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trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in surplus or deficit 
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the 
debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount, and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate computed at 
initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the deficit is recognised in 
surplus or deficit within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible it is written off against the allowance account 
for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses in surplus or 
deficit. Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.

cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short term highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially and 
subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.5  Income tax

No provision for income tax is made as the MGb is exempt from payment thereof in terms of section 10(1) (cA) (i) of the Income 
Tax Act.

1.6  leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

finance leases - lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair value of the 
leased property or if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is 
allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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operating leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.  

1.7  Employee benefits

staff remuneration

The cost of short-term employee benefits are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their 
entitlement or in the case of non accumulating absences when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

The board has an umbrella provident fund which is governed by the Pension Funds Act of 1956. Membership at establishment of 
the fund was voluntary for all existing employees and compulsory for all future employees. The fund is a defined contribution fund 
and therefore no actuarial valuation is required.  Expenditure is charged in the year it is incurred. The fund is self contributory.

1.8  Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:
• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the 

obligation, and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation at the  
31 March 2013. Where the effect of time-value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement 
is recognised when and only when it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the MGb settles the obligation. 
The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the 
provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it is no longer 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation.

A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity:
• has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, identifying at least:

-  the activity/operating unit or part of a activity/operating unit concerned;
-  the principal locations affected;
-  the location function and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for services being terminated;
-  the expenditures that will be undertaken; and
-  when the plan will be implemented.

• has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan or 
announcing its main features to those affected by it.
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After their initial recognition, contingent liabilities recognised in business combinations that are recognised separately, are 
subsequently measured at the higher of:
• the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and
• the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities not recognised however, are disclosed in a note.

1.9 revenue

measurement of revenue 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, where in most cases the consideration is in the 
form of cash or cash equivalents.  

recognition of revenue 

Government grants 

The receipt of government grants is considered to be a contribution. A contribution occurs when the MGb receives an asset 
without having to give equal value to the other party/parties of the transfer. Revenue comprises government grants net of savings 
surrendered which are brought into account in the year in which the amounts are due. Finance income is recognised using the 
effective interest rate method, or when such cash is received or receivable.

If the consideration received is in the form of a contribution, the income is to be recognised as revenue when all of the following 
conditions have been satisfied: 
(i) the MGb obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution; 
(ii)  it is probable that the contribution will flow to the MGB; and 
(iii)  the amount of the contribution can be reliably measured. 

Income is therefore only recognised when the MGb has control over the contribution, which is usually achieved through receipt 
or when entitlement for the revenue is established. If the government contributions are received with conditions attached, and 
contributions have to be refunded if the conditions are not met, then revenue should not be recognised until all of those conditions 
are met.

1.10  Deferred revenue

Any conditional grant received for activities or services occurring in future financial years is recorded as deferred revenue and is 
recognised as revenue when the goods or services have been provided.

1.11  Borrowing costs

It is inappropriate to capitalise borrowing costs, when and only when there is clear evidence that it is difficult to link the borrowing 
requirements of the MGb directly to the nature of the expenditure to be funded, i.e. capital or current.

borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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1.12  unauthorised expenditure

Unauthorised expenditure means:
• overspending of the allocated total budget of the MGb; and
• expenditure not in accordance with the purpose of the allocation or in the case of a main department not in accordance with 

the set objectives of the MGB.

All expenditure relating to unauthorised expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance in 
the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where 
recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.13  fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 
been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance 
in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense and where 
recovered it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.14   Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure incurred in 
contravention of, or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation including: 

• this Act; or
• the State Tender board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968) or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
• any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the PFMA requires the 
following (effective from 1 April 2008):

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which condonement is being awaited 
at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further action is required with the exception of updating the 
note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following financial year the 
register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not condoned by the National 
Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register.  

If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account must be created if such a person is liable 
according to the law. Immediate steps must be taken thereafter to recover the amount from the person concerned. If recovery is 
not possible, the accounting officer or accounting authority may write off the amount as debt impairment and disclose such in 
the relevant note to the financial statements. The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. If the irregular 
expenditure has not been condoned and no person is liable according to the law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against 
the relevant programme/expenditure item to be disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements and updated accordingly in 
the irregular expenditure register.
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1.15  Budget information

General purpose financial reporting by MGB provides information on whether resources were obtained and used in accordance 
with the legally-adopted budget and approved strategy of the board.

The Annual Financial Statements and the budget are on the same basis of accounting with the exception of the depreciation and 
amortisation therefore a comparison with the budgeted amounts for the reporting period have been included in the Annual Financial 
Statements. 

2. new standards and Interpretations

2.1  standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year the MGB has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year 
and that are relevant to its operations:
• GRAP 24: Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements

2.2  standards and interpretations not yet effective or relevant

The following standards and interpretations have been published and are mandatory for the MGB’s accounting periods beginning 
on or after 1 April 2012 or later periods but are not relevant to its operations:  

standard/Interpretation not yet effective
GRAP 18 Segment Reporting Issued March 2005
GRAP 25 Employee Benefits Issued November 2009
GRAP 105 Transfer of Functions between Entities Under Common Control Issued November 2012
GRAP 106 Transfer of Functions between Entities Not Under Common Control Issued November 2010
GRAP 107 Mergers Issued November 2010

The Minister of Finance announced that the application of GRAP 21, GRAP 23, GRAP 24, GRAP 26 and GRAP 103 will be 
effective for any period starting on or after 1 April 2012. All other standards as listed above will only be effective when a date is 
announced by the Minister of Finance.
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3. Property and equipment

2013 2012

cost / valuation
r

accumulated 
depreciation 

r
carrying value

r
cost / valuation

r

accumulated 
depreciation 

r
carrying value

r
building* 17 486 400 - 17 486 400 17 486 400 - 17 486 400 
Computer equipment 4 866 951 (4 638 784) 228 167 6 079 550 (5 137 278) 942 272 
Furniture and fixtures 1 900 995 (1 887 124) 13 871 2 132 940 (1 845 757) 287 183 
Office Equipment 2 803 059 (1 644 659) 1 158 400 2 355 718 (1 519 739) 835 979 
Motor vehicles 1 015 213 (861 369) 153 844 1 190 675 (861 652) 329 023 

28 072 618 (9 031 936) 19 040 682 29 245 283 (9 364 426) 19 880 857 
Leased  office equipment 311 658 (103 528) 208 130 403 914 (22 437) 381 477 
total 28 384 276 (9 135 464) 19 248 812 29 649 197 (9 386 863) 20 262 334 

* Building
In terms of the requirements of GRAP 17 the useful life and residual values of all assets were reviewed by management at year-end. 
The residual value of buildings differed from the previous estimates. The effect was that, the residual value equals to the carrying 
amount. Consequently there was no depreciation charge for buildings in the current year. Refer to note no.18.

reconciliation of property  
and equipment – 2013

opening 
balance

r
additions

r
Disposals

r
Depreciation

r
total

r
buildings 17 486 400  -  -  - 17 486 400 
Computer equipment 942 272 106 409 (17 406) (803 108) 228 167 
Furniture and fixtures 287 183  - (3 600) (269 712) 13 871 
Office equipment 835 979 731 104 (29 611) (379 072) 1 158 400 
Motor vehicles 329 023  - (140 087) (35 092) 153 844 

19 880 857 837 513 (190 704) (1 486 984) 19 040 682 
Leased office equipment 381 477 79 524 -   (252 871) 208 130 

20 262 334 917 037 (190 704) (1 739 855) 19 248 812 

reconciliation of property 
and equipment – 2012

opening 
balance

r
additions

r
Disposals

r
revaluation

r
Depreciation

r
total

r
buildings 12 647 578  -  - 4 838 822  - 17 486 400 
Computer equipment 2 128 442 142 461 (25 972)  - (1 302 659) 942 272 
Furniture and fixtures 562 657  -  -  - (275 474) 287 183 
Office equipment 540 450 529 247 (56 603)  - (177 115) 835 979 
Motor vehicles 307 689 175 462  -  - (154 128) 329 023 

16 186 816 847 170 (82 575) 4 838 822 (1 909 376) 19 880 857 
Leased office equipment 78 596 403 914 (11 355)              -   (89 678) 381 477 

16 265 412 1 251 084 (93 930) 4 838 822 (1 999 054) 20 262 334 

The building is situated on portion 273 (a portion of portion 60) of the Farm 64 White River JU measuring 1.4210 hectares with 
the building size of 3000m². The land on which the building is erected is owned by the state. The State Attorney is in the process 
of endorsing the title deed to indicate that the land is used by the MGb. However, the process cannot be completed, because of 
a pending land claim. 

notes to the annual fInancIal statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013 



77

3. Property and equipment (continued)

3.1  financed leased assets
Property and equipment to the value of R208 130 (2012: R381 477) are encumbered under finance lease obligations. Refer to 
note 7 for details thereon. 

3.2  revaluation
The building was revalued as at 31 March 2012 by the independent property consultant (Pam Golding Nelspruit) and the change 
was duly incorporated into the Annual Financial Statements. The assumptions applied in arriving at the building revised value 
of R17 486 400 was the projection of monthly rental income based on an annual 8% escalation and a capitalisation rate of 12%.

Should the revaluation not have been taken into account, the carrying value of the building as at 31 March 2013 would have been 
as follows: 

2013

carrying value  
at cost less 

accumulated 
depreciation at 
beginning  of 

year
r

Depreciation
r

carrying value
 at cost less 

accumulated 
depreciation at 

end of year
r

building 5 516 257 (630 435) 4 885 822

total 5 516 257 (630 435) 4 885 822

2012
building 6 146 692 (630 435) 5 516 257

total 6 146 692 (630 435) 5 516 257

4. Intangible assets

2013 2012
cost / 

valuation
r

accumulated 
depreciation 

r
carrying value

r

cost / 
valuation

r

accumulated 
depreciation 

r
carrying value

r

Computer software 1 455 866 (1 455 866) - 3 032 345 (2 957 622) 74 723

total 1 455 866 (1 455 866) - 3 032 345 (2 957 622) 74 723

reconciliation of intangible assets – 2013

opening 
balance

r
additions

r
amortisation

r
total

r

Computer software 74 723  -  (74 723)  - 

74 723  -  (74 723)  - 

reconciliation of intangible assets – 2012

Computer software 176 342  -  (101 619) 74 723

176 342  -  (101 619) 74 723

The computer software is amortised over its useful life using the straight-line method. The amortisation expense has been 
included under the line item depreciation and amortisation expense in the statement of comprehensive income. Management 
has reviewed the useful life on computer software and believes that the straight-line method of two years is still deemed to be a 
true reflection of the write-off period. The estimation of the useful life of software is based on historical performance, as well as 
expectations about the future.
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5. trade and other receivables 
2013

r
2012

r

Trade debtors  6 083 634 5 139 112 

Prepayments 444 015  56 950 

 6 527 649 5 196 062 

The prepayments consist of the entire credit balance for any upcoming payment that is paid in advance of the date for which the 
borrower is contractually obligated to pay it. 

The following receivables had balances outstanding at 31 March 2013 which represented more than 5% of the total balance of 
outstanding trade receivables and were received / realised by end of April 2013: 

 
2013

r
Percentage of 

total (%)
2012

r
Percentage of 

total (%)

Casinos licensees  4 487 875 74% 4 039 245 79%

Routes and sites licensees 880 814 14%  807 089 16%

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates fair value because of the short period to maturity. The age 
analysis of trade and other receivables are as follows and no impairment of debts was considered necessary at year end:

age analysis of trade and other receivables

2013
r

2012
r

0 – 30 days  6 083 634 5 139 112 

31 – 60 days - -

61 – 90 days - -

91 – 120 days - - 

 6 083 634 5 139 112 

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions are at fair value. The maximum exposure of the credit limit at year 
end is the fair value of each class of trade and other receivables mentioned above.  The entity does not hold any collateral as 
security. None of the trade and other receivables has been utilised as security or collateral for liabilities, nor have any terms of 
any receivables been renegotiated.     

6. cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
2013

r
2012

r

Cash on hand 3 887   245

bank balances 7 389 668 9 368 617

7 393 555 9 368 862

Cash and cash equivalents are placed with a reputable financial institution.
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7. finance lease obligation
2013

r
2012

r

Dell Financial Services Africa (Pty) Ltd   - 106 867 

Sunlyn Rental - 13 477 

Konica Minolta 209 113 390 567 

Total finance lease obligation 209 113 510 911 

Dell Financial Services Africa (Pty) Ltd - 100 069 

Sunlyn Rental - 12 684 

Konica Minolta 209 113 89 643 

Short-term portion of finance lease 102 794 202 396 

Long-term finance lease obligation 106 319 308 515 

minimum lease payments due 

   within one year 107 755 213 056 

   in second to fifth year inclusive 106 458 309 636 

214 213 522 692 

Less: future finance charges (5 100) (11 781)

Present value of minimum lease payments 209 113 510 911 

Present value of minimum lease payments due 

   within one year 102 794 202 396 

   in second to fifth year inclusive 106 319 308 515 

209 113 510 911 

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:

Non-current liabilities 209 113 510 911 

Short-term portion of finance lease (102 794) (202 396)

106 319 308 515 

The Konica Minolta bears interest at an effective rate of 3% (2012: 3%) per annum and is repayable in 36 equal monthly 
instalments of R9 018, (2012 : R6 703) and the equipment has a book value of R208 130 at year-end. There were no defaults or 
breeches of the contractual terms of the leases during the financial year. The carrying amounts of the leases were not materially 
different from the fair value of the equipment at year-end.

The Dell Financial Services agreement bears interest at an effective rate of 23% per annum and is repayable in 12 equal monthly 
instalments of R31 621 (2012: R31 621) and the equipment had a book value of R Nil (2012: R109 272) at year-end included 
within Computer Hardware in note 3.

The Sunlyn Rental bears interest at an effective rate of 24.67% per annum and is repayable in monthly instalments of R2 696 
(2012: R2 696) and the equipment has a book value of R Nil (2012: R34 832) at year-end included within Office Equipment in 
note 3.
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8. short-term Provisions

reconciliation of provisions – 2013

opening 
Balance

r
additions

r

utilised 
during the 

year
r

reversed 
during the 

year
r

total rands 
r

Provision for bonuses    2 542 133   1 753 801  (2 222 821)  - 2 073 113 

Provision for audit fees   805 392   -  (727 540)  (77 852)   -

 3 347 525 1 753 801   (2 950 361)   (77 852)  2 073 113 
reconciliation of provisions – 2012

Provision for bonuses 2 164 848 2 542 133 (2 009 829) (155 019) 2 542 133 

Provision for audit fees  684 360  805 392 (696 072) 11 712  805 392 

2 849 208 3 347 525 (2 705 901) (143 307) 3 347 525 

The provision for bonuses relates to estimates in terms of the MGB’s performance bonus policy for performance of MGB 
employees for the 2012/2013 financial year, payable subsequent to the year end.

9. trade and other Payables
2013

r
2012

r

Trade payables 1 794 584 1 280 668 

Pending transfer to government 6 127 887 5 296 884 

Payroll accruals 1 819 229 1 241 313 

Licence renewal billed in advance 1 145 100 1 075 500 

Investigation deposits and other receipts in advance -  38 000 

Staff claims 12 940  1 085 

10 899 740 8 933 450 

The MGb collects revenue on behalf of the Department of Economic Development, Environment and Tourism. This revenue is 
payable on a monthly basis in arrears. At year end an amount of R6 127 887 (2012: R5 296 884) was pending to be transferred to 
the Department from the total amount of R69 974 334 (2012: R60 111 376) recorded on behalf of the Department of Economic 
Development, Environment and Tourism as follows: Gambling levies R67 200 334 (2012: R58 040 143); Penalties R10 000 
(2012: R14 233); Application and license fees R 2 774 000 (2012: R 2 060 250).
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10. Deferred revenue
2013

r
2012

r

Roll-over: responsible gambling campaigns  313 677 1 068 828 

Expenditure utilised during the year for campaigns (313 677) (755 151)

 -  313 677 

Deferred revenue is made up of 2010/2011(FY) savings approved to be utilised for responsible gambling campaigns. 

11. transfer revenue
2013

r
2012

r

Grant received 41 908 000 39 908 000 

Savings for the year (55 701) (3 042)

net grant 41 852 299 39 904 958

12.  (Deficit)/Surplus from Operations 

The (deficit)/surplus  from operations is arrived at after taking into account the following items:

12.1 expenditure
2013

r
2012

r

External audit fees - 590 377 

Internal audit fees 647 516 416 279  

Depreciation and amortisation 1 814 578 2 100 677

Operating lease – office equipment 432 827 81 891 

Operating lease – office rent - 76 975 

Board members’ remuneration: non-executive (Refer to 12.2) 1 176 750 607 366

Responsible gambling campaign 518 321 755 151

Audit Committee member’s remuneration (Refer to 12.3) 181 000  110 361

Employee related costs 26 413 927 24 368 607

Management’s remuneration (Refer to 12.4) 8 057 540 7 347 657

Staff remuneration – other employees 18 356 387 17 020 950
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12. (Deficit)/Surplus from Operations (continued)

12.2 fees for services as Board members
The Board Members in office at the date of this report were appointed with effect from  
1 April 2012 with their term expiring 31 March 2015:

2013
r

2012
r

 1 176 750   607 366 

Vilakazi J.S. (Chairperson) 152 000 64 752

Sephiri M.C.N. 256 500  144 904

Thrush H. 166 500  85 059

Skhosana S.D. 139 500 65 430

Du Preez P.J. 119 250 50 163

Mthembu S.M. 151 000  97 602

Mahlangu D.J.L. 158 250 86 370

Kalidass R. 33 750  13 086

12.3 audit committee members’ remuneration
2013

r
2012

r

fees for services as audit committee members  181 000 110 361

Deiner G.A. 40 500 26 172

Keyser A.C. 14 500  26 172

Mthembu S.M. 30 000 -

Ntuli T.T.  14 500  19 629

Skhosana S.D. 21 000 8 724

Thrush H. 38 000  29 664

Sithole J.K. 22 500 -

2013 2012

12.4  management’s remuneration
salary

r
Bonus

r
total

r
total

r

Chief Executive Officer 1 517 616 166 417 1 684 033 1 476 057 

Chief Financial Officer  964 795 108 927 1 073 722  974 189 

Departmental manager: Legal  919 723 106 076 1 025 799  938 307 

Departmental manager: Communications   920 332 98 469 1 018 801  904 594 

Departmental manager: Gambling Audit  967 413 109 314 1 076 727  981 962 

Departmental manager: Gambling Control  905 673 102 308 1 007 981  923 415 

Departmental manager: Investigations and Licensing 1 044 141 126 336 1 170 477 1 149 133 

7 239 693 817 847 8 057 540 7 347 657 
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13. employee related costs
2013

r
2012

r

basic 26 323 683 24 126 366

Unemployment insurance fund 90 244 77 863

Staff benefits employer contribution - 164 378

26 413 927 24 368 607

The remuneration of employees is determined by the board, having considered the performance of individuals and market trends. 
All employees have declared their business interest to the board as prescribed.

14. finance Income
2013

r
2012

r

bank 294 514 474 478

15. finance costs
2013

r
2012

r

Finance leases 8 207 57 403

16. net cash Generated from operations
2013

r
2012

r

(Deficit)/Surplus (1 808 367)  974 407 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation and amortisation 1 814 578 2 100 673 

Loss on sale of assets 147 103  31 568 

Movement in provisions (1 274 412)  498 317 

Changes in working capital: 

Trade and other receivables (1 331 587) (547 679)

Trade and other payables 1 652 612 (836 536)

(800 073) 2 220 750 
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17. related Parties

Identity of related parties
Refer to note 11 relating to grants received and note 12 dealing with remuneration of MGb board Members and key management 
personnel.

material-related party transactions
2013

r
2012

r

Grant received from Department of Economic Development, Environment and Tourism 41 908 000 39 908 000 

Surplus to be surrendered to government (55 701) (3 042)

41 852 299 39 904 958

amounts paid to related parties

Department of Economic Development, Environment and Tourism
2013

r
2012

r

- Levies 67 200 344 58 244 882

- Application and licence fees 2 774 000 1 871 983

Key management compensation 8 057 540 7 347 657

18. change in estimate

Property, plant and equipment

Building
In terms of the requirements of GRAP 17 the useful lives of all asset items were reviewed by management at year end. The 
remaining useful life expectations of some asset items differed from previous estimates. This resulted in a revision of some of the 
previous estimates which was accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. The effect of this revision is a decrease in the 
depreciation charges for the current period of 2013: R1 791 179.49 (2012: 0).

Motor Vehicle 
In terms of the requirements of GRAP 17 the useful lives of all asset items were reviewed by management at year end. The 
remaining useful life expectations of some asset items differed from previous estimates. This resulted in a revision of some of the 
previous estimates which was accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. The effect of this revision is a decrease in the 
depreciation charges for the current period of 2013: R188 936.88 (2012: 0). 

19.  risk management

19.1 financial risk factors

The MGB’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The entity’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the entity’s financial performance.

Treasury regulations require the entity to facilitate a risk assessment to determine the material risks which the entity may be 
exposed to, and to evaluate the strategy for managing these risks. A risk assessment exercise is therefore conducted for the 
whole organisation on an annual basis, with the help of the entity’s internal auditors. These risk factors form the basis of the 
internal audit annual coverage plan. The MGB’s risk management incorporates a financial policy that establishes guidelines, 
credit and liquidity risks, and establishes responsibility and authority for the management of these risks. Key controls applied 
to transactions in derivative financial instruments are: to use only instruments where good market liquidity exists, to revalue all 
financial instruments regularly using current market rates.
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19. risk management (continued)

19.1.1 Market risk

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk - the entity’s interest rate risk arises from cash held at financial institutions. The cash 
deposit held at variable rates exposes the entity to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the entity 
to fair value interest rate risk. During 2012 and 2013 the entity’s cash deposits at variable rates were denominated in the South 
African Rand.

risk mitigation

Risk management is carried out by suitably qualified personnel with varying levels of seniority, commensurate with the nature 
and scale of market risks under management. 

The following controls allow for continuous monitoring by management:
• duties are segregated to ensure that employees involved in the origination, processing and valuation of transactions operate 

under separate reporting lines, minimising the opportunity for collusion;
• legal counsel approves documentation to ensure it complies with relevant laws and regulations; and
• internal audit reviews compliance with policies, procedures and limits.

Segregation of duties is a significant feature of MGB’s internal controls. Separation of persons executing transactions from those 
responsible for processing contracts, confirming transactions, settling transactions, approving the accounting methodology or 
entries and performing revaluations minimises opportunities for fraud or embezzlement.

19.1.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss that results from customers or counterparties failing to meet their financial obligations 
including obligations levies and taxes receivable on behalf of the Mpumalanga Government, unrecognised credit commitments 
and financial market activities. Financial assets which potentially subject the entity to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash 
and receivables. The entity’s cash is placed with recognised financial institutions. The external risk rating of financial institutions 
used by the entity is as follows:

trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are disclosed net of provision for impairment. Credit risk with respect to receivables is limited as the 
entity collects levies and taxes on behalf of the Mpumalanga Government (Department of Economic Development, Environment 
and Tourism). Due to the nature of the trade and other receivables, the entity does not require credit limit policies. 

19.1.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk anticipated should the entity not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The entity’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions without unacceptable losses or risking damage to the entity’s reputation. 
The entity monitors its cash flow requirements through monthly transfers from government which include the servicing of 
financial obligations, but exclude the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted.  

The table below analyses the entity’s financial liability into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances within twelve months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not 
significant. 
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19.  risk management (continued)

at 31 march 2013

carrying 
value

r

total cash 
flows

r

less than 1 
year

r

Between 1 
and 2 years

r

Between 2 
and 5 years

r
over 5 years

r

Finance leases 209 113 214 213 107 755 106 458 -   -   

209 113 214 213 107 755 106 458 -   -   

at 31 march 2012

Finance leases  510 911  522 692  213 056  309 636 -   -   

 510 911  522 692  213 056  309 636 -   -   

Refer to note 3.1 for encumbered assets.

19.2 Capital risk management

The MGB’s main objectives in managing capital risks is to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern in order 
to ensure that the entity achieves its mandate of regulating the Gambling Industry in the Mpumalanga Province. In order to do 
this the entity receives funding from the Department of Economic Development Environment and Tourism.  The MGb has been 
allocated the funding for the Medium-term Expenditure Framework ending 2013/2014 thus MGb remains a going concern.

20. financial Instruments by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

20.1 loans and receivables
Assets as per statement of financial position

2013
r

2012
r

Trade and other receivables 6 527 649 5 196 062 

Cash and cash equivalents 7 393 555 9 368 862 
total 13 921 229 14 564 924 

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates fair value because of the short period to maturity.

20.2 Other finance liabilities
Liabilities as per statement of financial position

2013
r

2012
r

Trade and other payables 10 899 740 8 933 450

20.3 sensitivity analysis
20.3.1 Interest rate risk
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for derivatives and other financial 
liabilities at the balance sheet date. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk and represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.  The following table illustrates the sensitivity to a 
reasonably possible change in the interest rates with all other variables held constant:
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20. financial Instruments by category (continued)

+ 0.05% movement - 0.05% movement

Classes of financial 
instruments per balance sheet: 2013

carrying 
amount

r

surplus /
(deficit)

r

other 
movements 

in equity
r

surplus /
(deficit)

r

other 
movements 
in equitys

r

assets

Trade and other receivables 6 527 649 - - - -

Other financial assets  - - - - -

Cash and cash equivalents 7 393 555 36 968 - (36 968) -

liabilities

Interest-bearing debt (214 213) (107) - 107 -

Trade and other payables (10 877 341) - - - -

Deferred revenue  - - - - -

Other financial liabilities 2 073 113 - - - - 

4 902 788 36 861 -   (36 861) -   

21. reconciliation between Budget and cash flow statement

Reconciliation of budget (deficit)/surplus with the net cash generated from operating, investing and financing activities:

operating activities
2013

r
2012

r

Actual amount as presented in the budget statement 41 908 000 39 904 958 

basis differences (42 708 073)  (37 684 208)

Net cash flows from operating activities  (800 073) 2 220 750 

Investing activities 

Actual amount as presented in the budget statement (873 436)  (1 188 721)

financing activities 

Actual amount as presented in the budget statement  (301 798)  (8 670 920)

Net cash generated from operating, investing and financing activities (1 975 307)  (7 638 891)
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materIalIty and sIGnIfIcance framework

Regulation 28.3.1 of the Treasury Regulations requires that public entities develop and agree on a framework of acceptable levels 
of materiality and significance with the relevant executive authority, in consultation with the external auditors.

In accordance with this, the framework has been considered from two main perspectives, namely quantitative and qualitative 
aspects. The policy framework set out below is, as required, appropriately presented in terms of the PFMA and Treasury Regulations.

Quantitative aspects

Taking into account the percentage guidelines received from the auditor general, we assessed the level of a material loss and 
significance as follows:

• Every amount in respect to criminal conduct.
• R5 000 and above in respect to irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure involving gross negligence.
• R71 287 and above being 0.17% of gross revenue in respect to any other irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure.
• For the purposes of significance in terms of section 54 (2) of the PFMA, the level of significance was assessed at an amount 

of R969 456 more, being approximately 5% of non-current assets.

In determining the materiality levels, the following factors were also taken into account.

• The nature of the MGB’s business.
• The statutory requirements laid down for the MGB, with specific reference to the PFMA and Treasury Regulations.
• The control and inherent risks associated with the MGb.

Qualitative aspects

Materiality is not merely related to the size of the entity and the elements of its financial statements. On the one hand misstatements 
that are large, either individually or in the aggregate may affect a ‘reasonable’ user’s judgment.  However, on the other hand 
misstatements may also be material on qualitative grounds.

These qualitative grounds, which will be reviewed annually include amongst others:

• Acquisition or disposal of a significant asset.
• Commencement or cessation of a significant business activity.
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